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<<<     Background Leading to the Inquiry      >>>   
 

 I Background Leading to the Inquiry  
 
 James Guy Bailey, Jr., was born on September 24, 1971.  He lived most of 

his life on Atlantic Street in North Sydney, Nova Scotia.  His parents, Lillian and 

Butch Bailey, had four children.  James Bailey had two older siblings, Paula and 

Wayne, and one younger brother, Kevin.  Butch Bailey died when James Bailey 

was 17 years old.  Members of James Bailey's family all reported that his father's 

death had a serious negative effect on him and that it continued to upset him 

throughout the remainder of his life.   

 

 After Butch Bailey's death, Lillian Bailey lived in a common-law relationship 

with Clayton LaFrance.  James Bailey got along well with Clayton LaFrance and 

considered him to be his step-father.  Clayton LaFrance died on April 18, 2000, a 

month prior to James Bailey's own death.  Members of the family confirm that 

Clayton LaFrance's death triggered further feelings of sadness and depression in 

James Bailey. 

 

 Lillian Bailey reported that James Bailey had been a good child growing up 

and that she had received positive reports from his teachers during his childhood 

years.  He completed grade 10 at Memorial High School in North Sydney and then 

worked for his uncle, Lawrence Bailey, at his upholstery shop for a few years.  His 

uncle eventually let him go because he had started "taking pills".  For a while 

James Bailey lived in Calgary with his girlfriend and when they broke up he moved 

back to live with his mother.  He also lived in Ottawa with his sister Paula Bailey 

on several occasions over a span of two to three years.  James Bailey had a 

history of drug and alcohol abuse.  He had been admitted to the Detoxification 

Centre (Detox Centre) run by Addiction Services located at the Cape Breton 

Health Care Complex in Sydney (CBHCC) nine times.   

 

 Lillian Bailey stated that James Bailey's problems with alcohol and then 

drugs started in 1994 after his father died.  She herself is a recovering alcoholic 

and had been in the Alcoholics Anonymous program for approximately six months 

when she became aware that James Bailey was abusing drugs and alcohol.  He 

attended some Alcoholics Anonymous meetings, but his behaviour became 

progressively worse.  Lillian Bailey would not allow alcohol in the house but she 

was aware that James was high on prescription drugs at times.  She agreed that it 

was very difficult to live with a person with addictions.  Although James Bailey 

was not violent, she remarked that money would disappear and that he would 

sometimes take drugs prescribed to her or his step-father.  On those occasions 

she would put James Bailey out of her house and he would live with friends or 



 

 
            Page  2 

<<<     Background Leading to the Inquiry      >>>   
 

 relatives.  Lillian Bailey stated that James often checked himself into the Detox 

Centre and that he would try to stay sober and off drugs.  She estimated that he 

took drugs on average two weeks a month. 

 

 On May 3, 2000, Lillian Bailey had told James Bailey to leave her house 

permanently because his drug use had become intolerable.  Because of a cheque 

fraud incident involving James Bailey, Lillian Bailey called the police and had a 

"peace bond" issued against James Bailey so that he would not be able to return 

to her home.  Prior to being served with the peace bond, James Bailey checked 

himself into the Detox Centre and remained there until May 10, 2000, at which 

time he signed himself out against the advice of his doctors.   

 

 From May 11 to May 15 , 2000 James Bailey sought out prescription drugs 

from a number of sources.  On May 11 he attended the local office of the 

Provincial Department of Community Services to apply for financial assistance. On 

May 14 he spoke to his mother and wished her a Happy Mother's Day.  Lillian was 

aware that James Bailey was feeling depressed.  May 16 was his father's birthday, 

and he was just getting over the loss of his step-father.   

 

 On Monday, May 15, Lillian Bailey brought James Bailey to her brother’s 

house (Richard MacIntyre) where he was allowed to stay on the couch.  Mr. Bailey 

told his uncle that he had been kicked out of his mother's house and was planning 

to go to Ottawa to stay with his sister. 

 

 Later that same day, the police went to Richard MacIntyre's house asking 

for James Bailey.  Richard MacIntyre told the police that James Bailey would be 

back later.  When James Bailey returned, Mr. MacIntyre told him that the police 

had been to his home looking for him, but that he didn't know what they wanted.  

Unknown to James Bailey or Richard MacIntyre, the police were there to serve 

James Bailey with the summons regarding the peace bond requested by Lillian 

Bailey. 

 

 On the morning of Tuesday, May 16, James Bailey left Richard MacIntyre's 

home and went to the local Community Services Office to collect his assistance 

cheque.  He received a cheque for $335.00 and cashed it the same day. 

 

 When James Bailey returned to his uncle's house that evening, Richard 

MacIntyre described him as being "high on drugs”; that Mr. Bailey was walking 

slowly, his eyes were puffy and red, and his speech was slow.  There wasn't much 

conversation and Richard MacIntyre asked James Bailey to leave.  James Bailey 
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 left Richard MacIntyre's house and walked down the street to another uncle's 

home (Norman MacIntyre) who lived a couple of blocks away.  Norman and his 

wife Thelma were home when James Bailey arrived with Richard MacIntyre.  

Richard MacIntyre didn't stay but told Thelma MacIntyre that the police had been 

looking for James Bailey and that James wanted to use the phone (Richard 

MacIntyre did not have one).  Thelma MacIntyre observed that James Bailey was 

obviously incapacitated and she didn't want him around because she was 

expecting company.  She allowed him to make a phone call to the Detox Centre 

and then asked him to leave. 

 

 When he called the Detox Centre, James Bailey spoke to Wayne Aucoin.  

Wayne Aucoin told him there were no empty beds and that he would call him 

when one became available.  Wayne Aucoin advised James Bailey to go to the 

emergency department. 

 

 James Bailey left Thelma MacIntyre's house at her insistence but returned 

a few minutes later.  He wanted to use the phone again, this time to call the 

police.  He dialed 911 and spoke with Judy MacNeil, the dispatcher.  He asked her 

why the police were looking for him.  She contacted members of the Cape Breton 

Regional Police Service (CBRPS) and RCMP, but erred in asking about a James 

Barry, rather than James Bailey.  A transcript of that call is reproduced in 

Appendix A152-154. 

 

 Following James Bailey's call to the 911 operator, Thelma MacIntyre's son, 

Bernard MacIntyre, helped James Bailey put on his shoes and took him outside.  

He last saw him heading back up to Richard MacIntyre's house.  Bernard 

MacIntyre called the police department and spoke with the dispatcher, Pattie Lynn 

Ropek.  He advised her of James Bailey's location and his level of intoxication.  He 

expressed concern for James Bailey's safety and stated that Mr. Bailey wanted to 

be picked up.  A transcript of that call is reproduced in Appendix A154. 

 

 James Bailey walked approximately 200 metres from Thelma MacIntyre's 

home to where he was arrested by Constable Max Sehl.  Constable Sehl was not 

aware of James Bailey's request to go to the Detox Centre.  He had responded to 

the dispatch call that resulted from Bernard MacIntyre's phone call.  Constable 

Sehl placed James Bailey under arrest pursuant to Section 87 of the Liquor 

Control Act which provides as follows:   

 

(1) No person shall be in an intoxicated condition in a public place.   
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  Constable Sehl removed a prescription bottle with a variety of pills from 

James Bailey prior to placing him in his police vehicle.  He took Mr. Bailey directly 

to the lock-up at the Grand Lake Road police station in Sydney.  Carmel Butler 

was the jailer on duty that evening.  The video tapes from the lock-up show that 

Mr. Bailey was compliant with Constable Sehl and Ms. Butler.  The tapes show 

Constable Sehl and Ms. Butler carefully placing Mr. Bailey in the recovery position 

on the cell bunk after removing his jacket and shoes.  The video tapes further 

show that James Bailey moved only slightly a few times up to 23:18:00h once he 

was placed on the bunk.  After that time there was no further spontaneous 

movement by him. 

 

 At 01:58:12h on May 17, 2000, Ms. Butler entered through the outer door 

of cell #4 where she remained for approximately 25 seconds.  She reached into 

the cell, moved to the left to look at Mr. Bailey and left.  She then made a radio 

call to Sergeant O'Rourke, who was the Duty Sergeant for that shift, and asked 

him to return to the lock-up. She then went to her desk, retrieved an unidentified 

item, and returned to the cell where she remained for another 18 seconds. She 

returned to her desk, then returned again to Mr. Bailey's cell where she stood 

outside of the cell for another 30 seconds.  At this point she reached through the 

cell bars to tug on Mr. Bailey's legs. She again returned to her desk and called 

dispatch by radio to advise that there was an unresponsive prisoner. She returned 

to cell #4 where she stood for another 12 seconds. 

 

 The dispatcher called 911 for an ambulance.  In May 2000, there was no 

means for the 911 dispatcher to have direct contact with custodians while they 

were in the cells.  Contact and instructions from the 911 operator were handled 

by radio to the CBRPS radio dispatcher who contacted Ms. Butler by telephone.  

Consequently, some of the 911 operator's questions could not be answered 

immediately due to the time lag.  At the end of the call, Ms. Butler returned to cell 

#4 where she stood for another 21 seconds before returning to her desk. 

 

 Sergeant O'Rourke arrived in the lock-up at 02:03:05h (within 5 minutes 

of receiving the call from Ms. Butler).  Constable Paul MacDonald was with 

Sergeant O'Rourke.  At 02:03:16h, Sergeant O'Rourke and Constable MacDonald 

entered and left cell #4 within seconds without touching Mr. Bailey.  The next 

sequence of events is documented later in this report. 

 

 Mr. Bailey was worked on in cell #4 by the paramedics (EHS) until 

02:29:28h when they removed him from the lock-up to the Cape Breton Health 

Care Complex.  He was pronounced dead at 02:45h, May 17, 2000. 
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 Sergeant Neil MacKenzie was the lead officer in charge of the investigation 

and was responsible for notifying James Bailey's family.  He was advised of the 

death at 02:20h and arrived at the Grand Lake Road lock-up at 02:55h.  He 

attended the hospital, arriving at 03:30h and proceeded to North Division where 

Mr. Bailey had lived, and where he had been arrested.   

 

Constable Mike Rolfe, a patrol officer, was working the night Mr. Bailey 

died.  Sergeant MacKenzie spoke with Constable Rolfe at North Division and told 

him that the man who had died was James Bailey.  Constable Rolfe believed he 

knew the deceased from his work in North Division.  He believed his nickname 

was "Rambo" and thought that he would be able to identify him.  He went to the 

morgue and met with Sergeant Morrison who was the identification officer 

responsible for the body.  Constable Rolfe identified the body as James "Rambo" 

Bailey.  In fact, "Rambo" Bailey was Wayne Bailey’s nickname, James Bailey's 

older brother. 

   

Sergeant MacKenzie contacted Father Tony MacDonald at St. Pius X Church 

who accompanied him to Lillian Bailey's home at 06:00h.  When there was no 

response at the house, he returned to the North Division station.  Sergeant Paul 

Doyle, Constable Wayne MacDonald and Father Dunphy of Immaculate Conception 

Church attended Lillian Bailey's home at 07:30h.  They informed the Bailey family 

of James Bailey's death.  Sergeant Doyle also spoke on the phone with James 

Bailey's sister, Paula Bailey, who lived in Ottawa.  She and her spouse left Ottawa 

by car the same day and drove to Nova Scotia.  En route to Sydney she contacted 

local media, indicating that she intended to find out what happened to her 

brother. 

 

 Dr. Paul Murphy was the Medical Examiner at the time of James Bailey's 

death and he authorized the autopsy.  A full autopsy was done at the Cape Breton 

Health Care Centre at 15:30h on May 18, 2000, by Dr. Dan Glasgow, pathologist 

(36 hours after James Bailey was pronounced dead).  A toxicology panel was 

ordered and the report was submitted on June 14, 2000 by M.D. Holzbecher, 

M.Sc.  The report showed there were several narcotic and controlled 

pharmaceuticals, along with their metabolites, in Mr. Bailey's system.  

Bromazepam and Paroxetine were in the toxic range.  There was no alcohol 

detected in his system at the time of the autopsy (See Appendix A131-141). 

 

 An examination of James Bailey’s body indicated that there had been no 

violence or trauma prior to his death.  There was no evidence of foul play, and 

there was no make-up on the body.  The cause of death was determined to be 
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 respiratory failure due to drug toxicity (drug overdose).  The pathologist further 

determined that James Bailey's chronic substance abuse was a contributing factor 

in his overdose.   

 

 Following the autopsy, arrangements were made for family members to 

view James Bailey's body at the morgue prior to being transferred to the funeral 

home.  Constable Ken O'Neil and Sergeant David Morrison attended with the 

family to assist with the viewing.  Also present was the Nursing Supervisor, 

Dolena Chopek, RN.   

 

 Members of James Bailey's family were understandably upset.  Some felt 

that they were being rushed during the visit.  There was bruising on Mr. Bailey's 

hands, inside elbows and neck that were consistent with resuscitation efforts by 

EHS members.  However, the Bailey family thought that the condition of the body 

was due to an altercation with the police.  They thought his face was "too 

tanned"; they questioned why there was blood on his lower lip and believed that 

the police were covering up their own wrongdoing.  Paula Bailey stated that she 

had to argue for permission to kiss James Bailey which further increased her 

suspicions.  She wanted to lick Mr. Bailey's face to taste for foundation as she 

believed she smelled it on Mr. Bailey.  She surmised that the police would have 

used make-up to cover up evidence of trauma or violence.  

 

 Following the viewing, members of Mr. Bailey's family attended at police 

headquarters to go over their questions and concerns.  Associate Chief Dave 

Wilson, Sergeant Dave Morrison and Constable Ken O'Neil represented the CBRPS 

at the meeting.  Paula Bailey and her brother Kevin Bailey, their uncle Kevin 

Bailey, their aunts Yvonne Bailey and Elizabeth Bailey, and Eric Freeman, a family 

friend, participated in the meeting on behalf of the Bailey family.  That meeting 

ended abruptly with Paula Bailey's accusation that James Bailey had been 

murdered.   

 

 James Bailey's family filed a complaint with the Nova Scotia Police 

Commission on May 24, 2000.  The complaint was investigated by Inspector Jack 

Banfield who reported to Chief Edgar MacLeod.  The Chief found no fault by the 

police officers involved.  He released his findings but did not provide reasons. 

 

 Standard Operating Procedure, Part II, Ch 3-E(D), issued by the 

Department of Justice for the province of Nova Scotia, dictates the procedure to 

be followed in the event a person dies while in police custody.  This is reflected in 

the Cape Breton Regional Police Service Policy on Human Deaths.  Such incidents 
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 are to be investigated by an officer with the Major Crime Unit of the police 

department involved. 

 

 Sergeant Neil MacKenzie was the lead investigator.  He was assisted by 

Constable Walter Rutherford and Constable Ken O'Neil.  The Major Crime Unit 

investigation resulted in a seven volume report.  It was forwarded to the Crown 

Prosecutor's office.  The report did not include an executive summary or 

recommendations.  However Sergeant MacKenzie did determine that there was no 

foul play involved and that charges should not be laid.   

 

 On July 10, 2000, the Minister of Justice for the province of Nova Scotia 

ordered an external investigation into the death of James Bailey.  Officers from 

the Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) were appointed to investigate pursuant to 

Section 3(2) of the Nova Scotia Police Act on August 15, 2000.  The OPP were 

directed to conduct: 

 

a thorough investigation into all matters related, either directly 

or indirectly, to the death of James Guy Bailey, and any 

involvement of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service or any of 

its employees with James Bailey or his family.   
 

 The OPP conducted 67 interviews including some with independent 

experts.  Their report consisted of more than seven volumes containing witness 

statements, transcripts of various recorded communications, audio tapes, a 

photographic brief, officer's notes, and expert opinions.  They also concluded 

there was no foul play involved in the death.  The OPP made several 

recommendations and concluded as follows: 

 

As our investigation into the death of James Guy Bailey 

concludes, we believe that James Bailey, his immediate family, 

the Cape Breton Regional Police Service, and the citizens of the 

Regional Municipality of Cape Breton, deserve to have the 

circumstances around this very unfortunate death explored in a 

full and frank manner in a public venue to ensure that no further 

in-custody deaths occur.  Otherwise, there will remain a cloud 

over not just the Cape Breton Regional Police, but over the Nova 

Scotia Justice system.  

 

 This recommendation was due, in large measure, to the fact that several 

CBRPS police officers refused to be interviewed by the OPP.   
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  As a result, the Minister of Justice ordered this Commission of Inquiry, and 

this is the report resulting from the Inquiry. 

 

 The Commission conducted its own investigatin in preparation for the 

Inquiry.  Statements were gathered and examined and dozens of witnesses were 

interviewed.  The investigation took approximately nine months to complete. 

 

 The scope of the Inquiry was left intentionally broad and many issues were 

identified.  The Commission has examined, in detail, James Bailey's last 24 hours.  

It looked at the reasons for his arrest under the Liquor Control Act and the 

immediate circumstances surrounding his death, including why resuscitation was 

not immediately initiated, why he was not taken to a hospital, and why the drugs 

that ultimately killed him were so readily available.  In addition, the actions of the 

Detox Centre and Mental Health Unit were reviewed. 

 

 In order to find answers it was necessary to look further into why the 

CBRPS investigated its own members, why certain officers did not provide 

statements, how the CBRPS dealt with the Form 5 public complaint and to 

examine the findings of the OPP.  In all, the Inquiry spanned 11 weeks over 1 1/2 

years and heard from 72 witnesses, including both expert and specialist 

witnesses.   

 

 The Commission of Inquiry panel (M. Jean Beeler, M. Frances Hinton and 

Betty Thomas) made several written and oral rulings which are reproduced at 

Appendix A8-A16.  Lawyers representing the Commission and the various 

parties examined and cross-examined the witnesses, made submissions and 

recommendations.   

 

 Following the Inquiry the panel reviewed the evidence, including the 

several hundred documents submitted as exhibits and the submissions made by 

counsel were thoroughly considered.  It also re-examined the relevant video and 

audio tapes and substantial portions of oral evidence given at the Inquiry. 

 

  The findings and recommendations of the Commission of Inquiry are 

included in this Report. 
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II Evidence, Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
A.   The Arrest of James Guy Bailey, Jr. Under the Liquor Control 
 Act 
 

 James Guy Bailey, Jr. died in the Grand Lake Road Lock-up after having 

been arrested under the Liquor Control Act.  Blood work drawn during autopsy 

was negative for alcohol but positive in the toxic range for certain narcotic and 

schedule drugs and/or their metabolites.  During the Inquiry, the arrest of Mr. 

Bailey under the Liquor Control Act came under scrutiny.  The conduct of 

Constable Max Sehl while dealing with Mr. Bailey that night was also examined. 

 
 Several members of the James Bailey's nuclear and extended families gave 

statements during the investigations and gave evidence at the Inquiry.  Richard 

MacIntyre is Lillian Bailey's brother, and James Bailey's uncle.  He stated at the 

Inquiry that James Bailey sometimes stayed with him when he had nowhere else 

to go but he had a rule for his place: "no pills, no problem."  Richard MacIntrye 

had seen Mr. Bailey staggering drunk, knew he had been in the Detox Centre a 

few times, and knew he had been involved with Alcoholics Anonymous.  However, 

he did not think Mr. Bailey had a problem with alcohol, only with pills. 

 

 Richard MacIntyre stated that on the night in question he did not smell any 

alcohol on Mr. Bailey.  He stated that he knew James Bailey was on pills because 

of his puffy eyes and his slow walk.  Mr. Bailey told him that he wanted to go to 

the Detox Centre.  Richard MacIntyre sent Mr. Bailey up the street to Norman and 

Thelma MacIntyre's house to use the telephone because he did not have one.  He 

told James Bailey to call the police for a ride to the Detox Centre.   

 

 Richard MacIntyre watched James Bailey walk up the street because he 

was concerned for his safety, although he did not want him back in his house.  

When Mr. Bailey was being arrested, Richard MacIntyre stated that he heard Mr. 

Bailey tell Constable Sehl that he wanted to go to the Detox Centre, and that he 

needed a place to stay.  

 

 Thelma MacIntyre  is married to Norman MacIntyre, who is also Lilian 

Bailey's brother and James Bailey's uncle.  Although Thelma MacIntyre was not 

close to Mr. Bailey she was aware that he took medication and had been in and 

out of the Detox Centre.  She was also aware that he had been involved with 

Alcoholics Anonymous.  She also stated she would have no direct contact with him 
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when he was intoxicated.  Thelma MacIntyre stated that she was not aware that 

Mr. Bailey had had a recent admission to the Mental Health Unit.  She stated that 

she was aware that Mr. Bailey's mother (Lillian Bailey) had recently applied for a 

peace bond against him. 

 

 On the night in question, Mr. Bailey arrived at the MacIntyre home at 

approximately 20:30h.  Thelma MacIntrye stated that she "couldn't make head 

nor tails of him" because his speech was so slurred.  She stated that she was 

anxious for him to leave because she was expecting company and did not want 

him there when they arrived. 

 

 Elaine Chisholm is a friend of Lillian Bailey and knows Thelma MacIntyre 

through her friendship with Lillian.  Mr. Bailey had already been to the house once 

that night and returned approximately 5-10 minutes after she arrived.  After 

hiding from Mr. Bailey for awhile and ignoring his knocking, Richard and Thelma 

MacIntyre let him in the back door. 

 

 Elaine Chisholm stated that Mr. Bailey was slurring and swaying.  He was 

unable to put the lighter flame to his cigarette "like he didn't know where the 

cigarette was."  She stated that although she didn't smell any alcohol, to look at 

him you would think at first that he was drunk, especially if you didn't know him.  

However, after sitting with him on the couch she knew he was not drunk.  Elaine 

Chisholm said that Bernard MacIntyre arrived shortly after she did. 

 

 Bernard MacIntyre is Thelma and Norman MacIntyre's son, and James 

Bailey's cousin.  He said he did not know Mr. Bailey well because of their age 

difference.  However, he did see him regularly and had seen him on occasion in a 

local bar.  He was aware that Mr. Bailey had been in and out of the Detox Centre. 

 

 At 20:40h on May 16, 2000, Bernard MacIntyre called the CBRPS for 

James Bailey.  According to Bernard MacIntyre he told the dispatcher Mr. Bailey 

was "pretty full" and wanted to be picked up by the police and taken to the Detox 

Centre.  The 911 tapes show that when Mr. MacIntyre was asked by the 

dispatcher why Mr. Bailey wanted to be picked up he stated “I don’t know”.  He 

answered "yes" to dispatcher Ropek's question about Mr. Bailey regarding 

intoxication.  When asked at the Inquiry to explain "pretty full", Bernard 

MacIntyre agreed that it was a colloquialism used at times to describe someone 

who was very drunk; "full of liquor and pills."  He stated that when he first 

encountered Mr. Bailey that night he thought he was very drunk.  He further 
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stated that he did not believe Mr. Bailey was "close to death" or he would have 

taken him to the hospital. 

 

 In his evidence at the Inquiry, Bernard MacIntyre insisted that he had 

made a second call to the police and it was then that he advised that Mr. Bailey 

had gone "up the road".  When confronted with evidence of the absence of a 

second call, he became defensive and stated he was not a liar.  He went so far as 

to say that the 911 tapes must have been altered. 

 

 Constable Max Sehl graduated from the Atlantic Police Academy in 1975 

and worked with the Amherst Police Department until 1978.  In April 1978, 

Constable Sehl moved to the North Sydney Police Department.  He was absorbed 

into the CBRPS in the 1995 amalgamation where he remains.  Since 1994, he has 

taken or initiated numerous courses (Appendix A123-124) and is regarded for 

his professionalism.  He is actively involved in his community as a volunteer 

where he has a good profile. 

 

Constable Sehl describes the next sequence of events as follows: 

 

 He heard dispatch send Constable Findlay Morrison to 

Sydney Mines for "a complaint of an `823' male in his 

twenties"  (823 is the CBRPS radio code for an intoxicated 

person). He advised Constable Morrison that he was in the area 

in the "float" vehicle, and would take the call.  He proceeded to 

Yorke Street where he noticed a male staggering down the 

street.  He pulled over and went around the vehicle.  He did not 

know the male; he had had no previous contact with him. 

 

 Constable Sehl stood by the male and asked him his 

name.  The man gave him part of a name.  He later found the 

man's driver's license, which identified him as James Guy 

Bailey.  Constable Sehl placed his left hand on Mr. Bailey's arm 

to steady him.  Mr. Bailey had to look up at Constable Sehl 

because of height discrepancies.  There was a strong smell of 

alcohol.  Constable Sehl asked Mr. Bailey if he had had anything 

to drink, to which he replied "lots". 

 

 Constable Sehl advised Mr. Bailey that he was under arrest 

for intoxication.  Mr. Bailey leaned against the car while 
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Constable Sehl searched him.  He found a bottle of several 

different pills and asked Mr. Bailey if he had taken any.   

Mr. Bailey said no.  He asked him twice where he lived, but  

Mr. Bailey did not answer.  A male on the steps of a nearby house 

(later identified as Richard MacIntyre) told Constable Sehl that 

James Bailey had nowhere to stay; that he was not allowed 

around Atlantic Street when he was drinking. 

 

 Constable Sehl described the circumstances under which he could arrest 

someone:  breach of peace,  Liquor Control Act offence,  to stop an offence in 

progress,  to prevent a recurrence of an offence,  or under the Hospital Act if 

considered a danger to themselves or others.  Therefore, if Mr. Bailey had not 

been under the influence of alcohol, he would have been arrested under the 

Hospital Act for his own safety.  At this point Constable Sehl made the decision to 

arrest him under the Liquor Control Act and to take him to the lock-up rather than 

to the hospital. 
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Conclusions: 
 

 The evidence submitted during the Inquiry (vive voce, documentary, video 

and tape recordings) showed that in all likelihood Mr. Bailey had not ingested 

alcohol that evening.  However, when taken in the fullness of the situation, 

Constable Sehl's conclusion that Mr. Bailey was under the influence of alcohol, 

and therefore detainable under the Liquor Control Act, was reasonable.   

 

Witnesses involved with Mr. Bailey before his arrest, and prior to this 

Inquiry, were consistent: he was "intoxicated".  No one at the time stated or 

suggested that he was intoxicated on anything other than alcohol.  In fact, 

Richard MacIntyre advised Constable Sehl that James Bailey "was not allowed 

around Atlantic Street when he had been drinking."  Bernard MacIntyre stated 

that, when he first encountered Mr. Bailey that night, he thought he was very 

drunk.  Elaine Chisholm stated that if you didn't know Mr. Bailey you would have 

thought he was drunk.  Therefore, Constable Sehl's conclusion that Mr. Bailey had 

been drinking, and his belief that he smelled alcohol, was based on those 

circumstances, not on complacency. 

 

 Bernard MacIntyre gave detailed evidence on Mr. Bailey's activities 

immediately before he was arrested.  Some of the evidence is supported by 

independent evidence and is helpful to this Inquiry.  The remainder of  

Bernard MacIntyre's evidence was inconsistent with his previous statements to 

the CBRPS, to the OPP, and with common sense and reality.  His allegation that 

the dispatch tapes were edited to remove his statement that Mr. Bailey wanted to 

go to the Detox Centre, and to insert his response "I don't know" (when asked 

what Mr. Bailey had ingested), and to delete entirely a second call, are not 

supportable and demonstrate a lack of credibility. 

 

 The difficulty with the evidence given by the remainder of Mr. Bailey's 

family and friends is that it was clearly tainted by high emotion, confusion 

regarding Mr. Bailey's call to the Detox Centre, and by a genuine desire to find a 

reason for Mr. Bailey's demise other than by his own actions.  Remembering 

circumstances in this light has had the effect of changing their reality and thus 

their ability to accurately recall important details.  It is apparent, as well, that  

Mr. Bailey's family was blind to the fact that he clearly had a dual substance 

problem with prescription medication and alcohol.   
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 Preventable errors in officer and custodial judgment were caused in part by 

the lack of clear direction on the handling of intoxicated prisoners, and inadequate 

basic training and continuing education on the dangers of extreme intoxication.  A 

prescription pill bottle containing a mix of pills was found on Mr. Bailey at the time 

of his arrest.  When asked at the Inquiry about his inability to recognize common 

street drugs, Constable Sehl stated that, notwithstanding his experience on the 

drug squad, he is unable to do so in part because of the frequency in which the 

most commonly used drugs change, and due to a lack of  specific training in the 

area of drug recognition.   

 

 In addition to Constable Sehl, the custodian (Carmel Butler), and the duty 

sergeant (Sergeant O'Rourke), were all aware of the bottle of pills found on James 

Bailey, yet no action was taken.  What is significant is that the three people 

involved represent three different levels or positions in the chain of command.  

This suggests that the inadequate knowledge regarding the potentially fatal 

effects of mixing drugs and alcohol was widely prevalent in the CBRPS. 

 

 Chief Edgar MacLeod stated that the CBRPS deals with the usual city issues 

on a budget that is based on an ever decreasing tax base.  Cape Breton is more 

than challenged in keeping pace with its growing policing needs.  Funds for 

additional continuing education are not available, a greater level of enforcement 

of policies and procedures is desirable, but both require human and financial 

resources.  However, Cape Breton is not the only force in this predicament and 

"more money" cannot always be the answer; the problems are far more complex 

than that. 

 

 Modern policing is no longer the cop on the beat who knows everyone.  

The CBRPS serves a large area and therefore reporting and recording are critical 

to continuity in the level of service.  In centres such as Sydney, it is no longer 

possible – nor acceptable – to approach a situation with the confidence of 

familiarity (e.g., I'll just take buddy home to sleep it off.).  Senior management 

must be creative in finding the ways and means of ensuring their officers and 

employees are adequately trained and educated.  Continuing education is crucial 

and officers should be motivated to strive for - and be assisted in achieving - 

more than just the minimum standards of practice. 

 

 In determining whether or not it was reasonable for Constable Sehl to elect 

to arrest Mr. Bailey under the Liquor Control Act, and to place him in lock-up to 

"sleep it off", the following factors must be taken into consideration: 
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1. the lack of specific policy and procedure on the arrest and detention of 

the extremely intoxicated; 

 

2. the level of enforcement of policies and procedures in existence at the 

time;       

 

3. the training and continuing education made available to officers; 

 

4. the lack of alternate facilities for intoxicated persons within the 

healthcare or social service networks (examined later in this Report);  

  

5. Constable Sehl's past professional experience; 

 

6. the family's apparent unwillingness to have Mr. Bailey around their 

community when "intoxicated"; and 

 

7. the family members' descriptions of Mr. Bailey's behaviour leading up 

to his arrest.   

 

 The issue to be determined is not whether Mr. Bailey was drunk the night 

he was arrested by Constable Sehl.  It is instead, whether or not – when faced 

with the facts before him – it was reasonable for Constable Sehl to make a 

determination to arrest Mr. Bailey under the Liquor Control Act rather than take 

him to the hospital.  Work environment, family situation, and Mr. Bailey's 

conduct, all influenced Constable Sehl's professional judgment.  The CBRPS is 

responsible for the work environment.  Specifically:  policy, procedure 

(development and enforcement), and training and education (basic, refresher 

courses and continuing education).   

 

 The family and friends of James Bailey account for Constable Sehl's 

perception of Mr. Bailey's substance of choice that night and the limited options 

presented to him for dealing with Mr. Bailey.  Constable Sehl's decision to arrest 

Mr. Bailey that night was in keeping with standard procedure and is likely the 

same decision most officers would have made in the same circumstances.  Those 

standards have since been changed due, in some measure, to this Inquiry.  Police 

officers are now more aware of the dangers of intoxication by drugs and alcohol, 

and particularly of drugs and alcohol taken together. 
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Findings: 
 

 The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. Given the entirety of the circumstances, it was reasonable for Constable 

Max Sehl to have formed the opinion that Mr. Bailey was under the 

influence of alcohol, and therefore arrestable under the Liquor Control 

Act. 

 

2. Notwithstanding Mr. Bailey's apparent level of intoxication and the 

discovery of the vial of pills, given the lack of clarity in and enforcement 

of the CBRPS policies and procedures of the day, and the lack of 

adequate training and continuing education in drug and alcohol 

identification, it was not unreasonable for Constable Sehl to take  

 Mr. Bailey to the lock-up rather than to the hospital. 

 

 

3. Finding 2 is reinforced by:   

 

a)  the Bailey family's attempt to deal with Mr. Bailey's substance 

abuse problem by choosing not to be around him when he was 

intoxicated, thereby limiting Constable Sehl's choices;  

 

b)  the Bailey family's choice to call the police rather than EHS, 

reinforcing Constable Sehl's perception that the matter was one 

of public intoxication, rather than Mr. Bailey being a danger to 

himself or others; and 

 

c) the Bailey family's decision not to take him to a hospital 

themselves. 
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Recommendations: 
 

1. The CBRPS must find the ways and means of providing adequate 

continuing education to its officers and employees.  Subjects of 

particular importance include, but are not limited to: 

 

• appropriate basic training on the management of intoxicated 

prisoners; 

• up-to-date information on evaluating levels of intoxication of 

detainees;   

• alternative approaches to arrest and detention under the Liquor 

Control Act;   

• training on the recognition of common street drugs. 

 

2. Police forces should develop a means of "flagging" their computer 

databases in regard to known substance abusers, and persons with a 

history of suicide attempts or mental illness.  This information would 

only be gathered from police records and recorded officer experiences 

in order to comply with privacy requirements. 
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B. The Events in the Lock-up 
 
 (i)  Custodians  
 

 On the night that James Bailey died he was in the custody of the Cape 

Breton Regional Police Service and under the direct care of Custodian Carmel 

Butler. Whether or not she carried out her duties according to CBRPS policy, and 

whether or not she was adequately trained and prepared to carry out those 

duties, is a matter for the Commission to determine. A comparison of how each of 

the CBRPS custodians understood their duties and the applicable policies, and 

their description of the training they received, is helpful in making this 

determination. 

 

 Carmel Butler was first employed as a matron in 1981 by the Sydney 

Police Department.  She was hired to guard two cells and at that time only 

females and young offenders occupied those cells.  Ms. Butler's evidence was that 

the cells were not monitored by video camera, there was no training, and that she 

did not receive any written policies.  She said that she was told to check the 

prisoners every 15 minutes, and to report to the Duty Sergeant on each shift.  At 

that time she maintained her own prisoner log sheets and passed them in at the 

end of her shift.  

 

 Carmel Butler and Margaret Buchanan were the two matrons hired to 

guard females and youth at the Sydney lock-up.  There was no set schedule; they 

were on call 24 hours a day, seven days a week.  However, from 1995 until the 

new facility opened in 1997, Ms. Butler and Ms. Buchanan also guarded male 

prisoners in the Sydney lock-up on regularly scheduled shifts.  This was in 

addition to their on-call shifts looking after the female and young offenders.  The 

male lock-up had six cells that were monitored by closed circuit television (CCTV). 

 

 Ms. Butler remained at the Sydney lock-up until 1995 when several 

municipalities were amalgamated.  A new police station was built in Sydney on 

Grand Lake Road and a new lock-up facility was constructed in the basement of 

the station. 

 

 At the Inquiry, Ms. Butler stated she was required to apply for the job of 

custodian at the new facility.  She was hired and began work as one of the senior 

custodians at the new facility when it opened in 1997.  All of the custodians were 

given an orientation of the new facility by Inspector Ray Armstrong.  Along with a 
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tour he gave them directions regarding the nature of the job and what was 

expected.  Ms. Butler estimated that the orientation lasted approximately 30 

minutes.  She recalled Inspector Armstrong stating that the facility was "state of 

the art"; "Prisoners are to be checked every 15 minutes and logged on your log 

sheet..."; "Your monitors are there to fall back on at any time"; and "If you jailers 

don't make this work, we're going to contract it out." She inferred from the final 

statement that she was expected to go to work, shut her mouth, do her job, and 

say nothing, otherwise the jobs would be contracted out.   

 

 Ms. Butler stated that she was never given written policies or procedures, 

and that none were in place while she was employed by the Cape Breton Regional 

Police Service or the Sydney Police Department.  The only thing she saw in writing 

was a directive hanging on the wall in the lock-up lobby.  That directive did not 

include anything about checking prisoners.    

 

 Ms. Butler stated that in addition to CPR training, she attended a week-

long course around 1994. She stated that a large binder of materials was 

distributed at the course but that she had never reviewed those materials. 

 

 Issues raised by Carmel Butler are summarized as follows: 

 

(i) There was a belief among custodians that the hospitals would not 

accept intoxicated prisoners, and that doctors and hospitals did, in fact, 

send intoxicated people to the lock-up. Ms. Butler stated that she 

expressed concern about this many times to many officers, implying 

that there would be little purpose in sending Mr. Bailey to the hospital 

because the hospital would not have accepted him.  However, 

subsequent evidence contradicts this and is addressed later in this 

Report. 

 

(ii) She told both Constable Sehl and Sergeant O'Rourke that Mr. Bailey 

was in "terrible shape", even though she didn't refuse to accept him, or 

suggest he be taken to hospital.  She again implied that it would have 

been pointless to refuse to accept him or suggest he be taken to 

hospital because the hospital wouldn't accept him, and because she 

believed that she could not refuse to accept a prisoner from a police 

officer. 
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(iii) There was a lack of cooperation with management:   

 

• She requested plexiglass be installed on the counter behind the 

cell door control panel as a barrier to traffic in the corridor.  She 

requested the barrier to reduce the risk of accidental opening of 

the lock-up doors, but her request was ignored. 

• She was not allowed to call out additional staff when the lock-up 

was busy.  

• She did not have the authority to refuse prisoners she did not 

believe to be in good enough health to be in the lock-up.  

• The shifts were difficult and she was unfairly assigned to most 

weekend nights. 

 

(iv) There was no clear indication of who was supervising the custodians.  

She was unsure about to whom she was to report to in various 

circumstances. She felt that all police officers were her superiors and 

that she could not question their decisions even with regard to 

prisoners.  She submitted her Prisoner Contact Log Sheets at the end 

of each shift but wasn't sure whether these were ever examined from a 

job performance point of view.  There were no performance reviews.  

 

(v) It was acceptable to substitute CCTV monitor checks for physical 

checks when the lock-up was busy.   

 

(vi) There was no formal training; she learned the job by doing the job.  

 

(vii) It was unclear what the policies were and where they were kept.  

 Ms. Butler's evidence was that she believed that there was only one 

policy, and that was to do 15 minute prisoner checks. 

 

On May 16, 2000, Ms. Butler was the custodian on duty at the Cape Breton 

Regional Lock-up Facility.  Her shift was from 19:00h to 07:00h on the 17th of 

May.  There are 11 cells in the facility and when Ms. Butler began her shift at 

19:00h there were five cells occupied by prisoners.  The number of prisoners 

varied over the course of the evening, but they never exceeded seven. 

 

Constable Sehl arrived with Mr. Bailey at 21:30h.  Ms. Butler's evidence at 

the Inquiry was that she believed he was "in terrible shape."  She didn't know 

whether he was intoxicated by drugs or alcohol, or both drugs and alcohol. 
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Although she thought he should have been taken to the hospital, she didn't think 

his condition was life-threatening.  She did not refuse to accept Mr. Bailey into the 

lock-up and she did not request that he be taken to the hospital.  She believed 

the hospital had a policy against accepting intoxicated prisoners. 

 

Constable Sehl took Mr. Bailey directly to cell #4 where he and Ms. Butler 

removed his jacket and shoes. They took his personal items and put them in an 

envelope.  They placed him on the bunk in the recovery position (on his right side 

with his back against the wall and his head away from the cell bars).  Ms. Butler 

found him unresponsive at approximately 02:00h the next morning. 

 

 Three days later Ms. Butler gave a statement to the CBRPS to assist in 

their investigation into Mr. Bailey's death.  In that statement she noted that, when 

Mr. Bailey was brought into the lock-up the night of his arrest, he could not walk 

on his own; Constable Sehl had to push his feet; Mr. Bailey couldn't stand on his 

own and he never said a word; he was extremely intoxicated. She said that Mr. 

Bailey immediately fell into a deep sleep and snored very loudly. Her main 

concern at the time was that he might fall off the bunk and hit his head on the 

toilet.  She stated that Mr. Bailey was too intoxicated to be in the lock-up and 

again, that she believed it was hospital policy not to accept intoxicated prisoners. 

 

 In her statement, Ms. Butler said that the policy at the lock-up was to 

check the prisoners every 15 minutes.  She described a "check" as physically 

going to the cell and checking to see if the prisoner is all right.  She said she 

checked Mr. Bailey every chance she got that evening. 

 

 Ms. Butler gave a second statement to the Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) 

five months later on October 3, 2000.  She confirmed that Mr. Bailey was highly 

intoxicated and that he couldn't stand on his own or walk without help.  She noted 

that she checked on Mr. Bailey every chance she got and she thought he was in 

terrible shape; he did not speak. 

 

 When asked, Ms. Butler also confirmed that her log sheet showed she had 

checked on Mr. Bailey every 15 minutes.  At the Inquiry she testified she actually 

checked him much more frequently but didn't note those times on the log sheet.  

She stated that the times marked on her log sheet were physical checks in the 

sense that she went to the cell and looked in on Mr. Bailey. 
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 Ms. Butler was adamant that she did not enter the times or make her 

notations on the log sheet after the fact.  When asked by the Commission during 

the Inquiry, Ms. Butler also denied noting the times on the log sheet in advance in 

order to save time.  However, that is certainly what it looks like: the log sheet 

shows that Ms. Butler checked Mr. Bailey exactly every 15 minutes - every hour 

on the quarter hour.  This does not seem possible, let alone likely, and is 

contradicted by other concrete evidence.  Tapes from the lobby video cameras 

show her at one point returning to her desk at 00:30.  She doesn't leave the desk 

area again until 01:53h.  She did, however, do multiple monitor checks.  When 

confronted with this information, Ms. Butler confirmed that the checks she was 

doing could have been monitor checks rather than physical checks.  She 

acknowledged that she must have substituted a number of physical checks with 

monitor checks.  However, her main concern at the time was the possibility of  

Mr. Bailey falling, and the monitors could and did show him on the bunk. 

 

 What is most relevant about both of Ms. Butler's written statements is that 

she confirmed that she understood the then policy regarding "15 minute checks" 

to mean she was to make physical checks by going to the cell door of each 

prisoner and confirming each prisoner's well-being.    

 

 When Mr. Bailey was brought into the lock-up there were six other 

prisoners confined in cells.  Five of those prisoners were there for non-liquor 

related offences and according to Ms. Butler were not “acting up”. The sixth was 

intoxicated but was released at 23:30h.  Four of the five non-liquor-related 

prisoners were transferred to the Provincial Correctional Centre at 23:40h.  

 

 Just before those four individuals were transferred, an intoxicated juvenile 

male was brought in.  When the four left, three prisoners remained; the only one 

“acting up” was the juvenile male.  At 00:38h another prisoner was brought into 

the lock-up.  Although intoxicated, he was not causing problems. 

 

 At 22:55h the intoxicated juvenile broke the sprinkler head off in his cell 

thereby activating the fire alarm and causing water to be sprayed into that cell.  

Sergeant O'Rourke and Ms. Butler moved him to cell #11 which is directly behind 

the custodian's desk, allowing her to keep a closer watch on his behaviour. 

 

 Firefighters responded to the alarm and were present in the lock-up from 

00:01h to 00:26h.  In addition to the janitor who came to clean up the area, a 
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repair person came to fix the sprinkler.  According to the booking area videotape, 

all additional personnel had left the area by 01:20h. 

 

 There are two extended periods when Ms. Butler did not leave her desk: 

23:11h to 23:57h (approximately 45 minutes) and 00:25h to 01:57h 

(approximately 90 minutes).  She did not physically check Mr. Bailey (nor any 

other prisoner) during those times. 

 

 The video tapes from cell #4 show Mr. Bailey lying in the recovery position 

from the time he was placed on the bunk until he was discovered unresponsive at 

01:57h.  Other than the period between 22:50h and 23:20h when Mr. Bailey 

raised his head several times, he was motionless. 

 

 Although Ms. Butler constantly observed the monitors while at her station, 

she at no time mentioned having seen Mr. Bailey move from the time he last 

raised his head at 23:20h until he was discovered at 01:57h.  Evidence at the 

Inquiry by other custodians and personnel, who are familiar with CCTV 

monitoring, were clear that no signs of breathing can be detected on the 

monitors.  The only information one would be able to detect from observing  

Mr. Bailey on the monitor from 23:20h until 01:57 was that Mr. Bailey's body was 

in the cell. 

 

 Anthony Campbell has been a custodian since 1991.  He started his 

employment with the town of Louisburg and was there until 1995.  Mr. Campbell 

confirmed that when he was first hired as a jailer at Louisburg he was given a 

copy of the Provincial Standing Orders for Lock-up Facilities, which he read and 

signed off.  From 1995 until 1997, he was at the Sydney Police Department lock-

up.  He went to the Cape Breton Regional Police Service lock-up on Grand Lake 

Road when it opened in April 1997. 

 

 Mr. Campbell testified that the Cape Breton Regional Police Service 

Operational Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners (Policy), was in the third 

drawer of the desk in the lock-up.  It had been there when he first started at 

Grand Lake Road in 1997 and he had reviewed it. He further stated that there was 

a four hour long in-service at the new facility when it opened in 1997 and that all 

custodians were present at that meeting.  Inspector Armstrong said they were to 

do 15 minute checks but did not state physical checks or monitor checks.   

Mr. Campbell stated clearly that physical checks were required at least every 15 

minutes.  He said he paid closer attention to intoxicated prisoners and that he has 
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had to send such prisoners to hospital on occasion when they became 

unresponsive.   

 

 In terms of practice, Mr. Campbell said that if it's obvious that prisoners 

are fine (i.e., sitting up, singing or talking) he doesn't open the door because that 

can invite conflict.  If they are not in distress, then neither does he open the sally 

port (1) window for the same reasons; certain things can be determined from the 

monitor, but certain things cannot.  For example, if the monitor is set on the split 

screen mode it is highly unlikely that you can see a person breathing.  Neither 

would the full screen necessarily enable you to see a prisoner breathing.  

 

 At the Inquiry Mr. Campbell stated that he had never seen anyone carried 

into the lock-up. He had, on occasion and in consultation with the duty sergeant, 

refused prisoners and had them sent to hospital to be medically assessed for 

fitness for cells.  He had never met any resistance from police officers with regard 

to sending prisoners to hospitals.  It is also his practice to ask the prisoners about 

any medication found on them when they come in.  

 

 Mr. Campbell's experience when dealing with the Detox Centre was that 

they requested intoxicated people be held in cells until the morning, "until they 

were sober", and then be sent to the Detox Centre.  

 

 In conclusion, Mr. Campbell stated that with all the changes made to the 

Policy and to the lock-up by the CBRPS in the interim following Mr. Bailey's death 

and the Inquiry, things are working fine.  

 

 Margaret Buchanan gave evidence at the Inquiry on February 13, 2003.  

She had been employed as a custodian for 21 years and had been with CBRPS 

since amalgamation.  On February 9, 2002, Ms. Buchanan also provided a 

statement to Ms. Butler’s counsel which was transcribed to writing and submitted 

to the Inquiry as part of Exhibit 49.    

 

 Ms. Buchanan stated that she assumed that custodians could rely on the 

monitors and that they were not required to physically check the prisoners.  She 

was not aware of any written policy.  Her main concern was that a prisoner might 

have a seizure and that's what she watched for. 

__________________________________ 
 
(1)    A “sally-port” is an enclosed ante-room between the lobby and a cell.  A steel door with a window that 

can be opened is between the lobby and the sally-port.  A bar door is between the sally-port and the cell. 
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 Ms. Buchanan admitted under cross examination that she had a problem 

with her memory.  She advised that she had been on stress leave since          

June 2002, and that she had been suffering from a sleep disorder and migraines. 

It was clear that she could not recall a number of crucial details and because of 

this her evidence was unreliable. 

 

 (ii) Police Officers 
 

 Soon after Mr. Bailey's death, different accounts were given of his level of 

intoxication, method of intoxication, and how he was managed prior to being 

settled into cell #4.  These discrepancies raised concerns regarding the 

consistency of police practice when handling intoxicated detainees. 

 

 Constable Max Sehl gave evidence at the Inquiry on February 27, 2002. He 

arrested Mr. Bailey and escorted him from his police car into the station.  He 

assisted Mr. Bailey by putting a hand on his shoulder and took him directly to cell 

#4.  Constable Sehl searched him and asked him whether he had any medical 

condition to which Mr. Bailey said "No".  Constable Sehl had seen other prisoners 

in worse shape and he assumed that Mr. Bailey would just "sleep it off." 

 

 Constable Sehl stated that he did not hear Ms. Butler say that Mr. Bailey 

was in “terrible shape".  With Ms. Butler's help, he placed Mr. Bailey in the 

recovery position, completed the necessary paperwork and returned to active duty 

at approximately 21:50h.  He did not hear anything further until approximately 

02:00h when he was advised by Sergeant O'Rourke that Mr. Bailey had died.   

 

When asked, Constable Sehl said he did not give statements to the CBRPS, 

the OPP or the NSPC during their investigations on the advice of his lawyer.  As 

required by Section 4(4) of the Police Act Regulations, Constable Sehl did submit 

what relevant notebook entries he could find, although the most relevant 

notebook was misplaced sometime between the initiation of the investigation and 

the formal request for his notebooks.  

 

Sergeant  John O’Rourke began his policing career on December 15, 1975.  

He was on foot patrol in the downtown area until 1977 at which time foot patrol 

officers were moved to patrol cars.  His experience includes:  Traffic (1980-1985; 

1993-1995); Criminal Investigations - Narcotics (1985-1988); Accident 

Reconstruciton, including courses in PEI, Ottawa and Jacksonville, Florida (1988-
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1993); partrol shift sergeant (1995-1999); and shift supervisor C-Division (1999-

2001) 

 

 Sergeant O'Rourke was the duty sergeant the night Mr. Bailey died.  He 

gave evidence at the Inquiry and confirmed that the responsibilities of the duty 

sergeant include dealing with complaints concerning the lock-up, and ensuring 

public satisfaction.  If there was a problem at the lock-up it was his responsibility 

to deal with it.  He did not believe that it was his responsibility to deal with the 

"person" of the custodian; he did not have supervisory responsibility for the 

custodians.  However, if a custodian had a concern, they didn't hesitate to 

approach him for assistance and he took care of it. 

 

 Sergeant O'Rourke maintained that it was not his function to tell a 

custodian to make more frequent physical checks, although he did say that he 

asked Ms. Butler to check cell #4 after the fire alarm went off.  He believed the 

level of activity in the cells the night Mr. Bailey died was not unusual and if  

Ms. Butler had said that she needed assistance he would have called someone in 

to help.  He pointed out that police officers assist in moving prisoners to and from 

the cells.  He told the Inquiry that there had always been a policy to physically 

check prisoners every 15 minutes and that he believed the guards were doing 15 

minute physical checks.  He did not see any written policy in this regard prior to  

Mr. Bailey's death. 

 

 Sergeant O'Rourke stated that prisoners would not be brought to the lock-

up if they were unconscious or had to be carried.  He would send such a person to 

hospital as he had done whenever he wasn't satisfied that a person was fit for 

cells.  He stated that he had never had a problem with hospitals taking prisoners 

nor in providing a medical assessment.  Although he had never had a custodian 

refuse a prisoner, he did not believe that custodians were intimidated by police 

officers and that they could and would refuse prisoners who they felt were not 

medically fit for the jail.  On the evening in question, Ms. Butler did not express 

concern to him about Mr. Bailey's physical condition.   

 

 When asked, Sergeant O'Rourke stated that he did not give a statement to 

the CBRPS, the OPP or the NSPC investigator during their investigations on the 

advice of his lawyer.  He felt "at odds" with some people because he had not 

given any previous statement and was anxious to give evidence at the Inquiry.  

He did submit the relevant entries from his notebook as required by the Police 

Act. 
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 Inspector Raymond Armstrong began his career in January 1964 with the 

Sydney Police Department where he became a corporal and then the sergeant in 

charge of the Sydney lock-up and citizens complaints.  Initially, police officers 

guarded the prisoners, and the sergeants booked and released them.  In addition 

to their own arrests Sydney was the lock-up for the Unama’ki Tribal Police, RCMP, 

Sydney Mines, and North Sydney Police Department and, at times, the Provincial 

Corrections Services.  Inspector Armstrong was transferred to the Grand Lake 

Road lock-up in December 1997 and he retired in December of 1998.   

 

 After the amalgamation in 1995, Sergeant Armstrong was promoted to 

Inspector and was in charge of the lock-up at the new Grand Lake Road facility.  

As part of his managerial training he took a five week "Senior Police 

Administration Training" course in Ottawa in 1997, a two week case management 

course in Ottawa in 1996, and attended various seminars on supervision and 

police development between 1997 and 1998.  His position at the Grand Lake Road 

lock-up was a new position and included oversight of the construction of the 

facility.  Inspector Armstrong stated that he received no guidelines or directives 

on the running of the new lock-up.   

 

 Inspector Armstrong detailed his responsibilities while in charge of the 

lock-up.  These included regular meetings with staff sergeants to discuss the day, 

staffing, absenteeism, and to ensure their monthly reports were up to date.  In 

additon, he was responsible for dealing with citizen complaints and for reviewing 

the lock-up on a daily basis.  He was also responsible for C-Division sergeants.  

He also met with the sergeants from time to time to ensure there was compliance 

with protocols and to deal with ongoing problems or “glitches”.  As staff sergeants 

were considered part of the management team, sergeants occasionally met with 

the staff sergeants instead of with him.  He agreed that there was nothing in 

evidence to suggest that he had ever directed the sergeants to oversee the 15 

minute checks of the custodians. 

 

 When the new lock-up was first opened in 1997, the Sydney Guidelines 

and Procedure for Jailers/Guards was used until a new policy was drafted.  

Inspector Armstrong drafted the new policy using policies from New Waterford, 

Glace Bay, Halifax and Sydney, as well as guidelines from the Corrections 

Services Division of the Nova Scotia Department of Justice.  The new Policy, The 

Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners, was put into effect just after the 

lock-up was opened (Appendix A83-A88).  When Inspector Banfield took over 
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responsibility for the lock-up in December 1997, he received the draft Policy from 

Inspector Armstrong for "tweaking". 

 

 Four days before the Grand Lake Road lock-up opened, Inspector 

Armstrong held a four hour orientation for the custodians.  They discussed the use 

of monitor checks in addition to physical checks, although he concluded that there 

were times when physical checks may be impossible because of activity in the 

lock-up.  Inspector Armstrong recalled that each custodian received a copy of the 

CBRPS Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners, and unless there were 

extenuating circumstances physical checks were to be done every 15 minutes.   

 

 Inspector Armstrong stated that physical checks are important because of 

what cannot be discerned from a monitor check.  For example, people who are 

quiet sleepers are difficult to assess on a monitor.  Although "physical check" is 

not defined in the Policy, Inspector Armstrong stated that opening the sally-port 

window and looking in, or entering the sally-port and approaching the bars, are 

considered physical checks.  Inspector Armstrong replied that, notwithstanding a 

slight wording change in the Policy between 1995 and 1997, physical checks were 

still required. 

 

 Counsel for Carmel Butler suggested that the wording change in the Policy 

document suggested that it was permissible to substitute monitor checks for 

physical checks.  Inspector Armstrong replied that the physical checks were still 

required.  However, on occasion the activity in the jail may make it impossible to 

do 15 minute physical checks. 

 

 Inspector Armstrong met with the custodians many times and observed 

both Ms. Butler and Ms. Buchanan doing physical checks.  He agreed that the 

custodians constantly observed the CCTV monitors, but was firm that the 

monitors were never meant to take the place of physical checks.  He did not recall 

ever seeing a custodian making a note on the log sheet after viewing the monitor.  

If he has seen this, he would have commented that it was not appropriate. 

 

 Inspector Armstrong denied telling the custodians to "make it work" or 

their jobs would be contracted out.  He stated there was no doubt in his mind that 

the custodians received a copy of the Policy although he could not say whether or 

not it was "signed off" by them.  He personally photocopied the Policy and 

remembers when they were handed out.  He gave a copy to the custodians in his 
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office and, if he didn't personally deliver them to the lock-up sergeants, he 

delegated the staff sergeants to do so.   

 

 Inspector Armstrong stated that he circulated memos to avoid duplication 

of problems that arose.  Since no problem with the 15 minutes physical checks 

came to light, no memo was created or circulated.  As of December 1997 he was 

satisfied that the policy directive on 15 minute physical checks was being 

followed. 

 

 Between 1995 and 1997, Inspector Armstrong did not develop any 

directives for the care and handling of intoxicated prisoners because he felt that 

the custodians and duty sergeants were qualified to deal with them.  When asked 

about the lack of such a directive, he responded that he thought that a protocol 

had been developed that dealt with waking intoxicated prisoners.  It requires the 

duty sergeant to open the cell for custodians as they are not permitted to enter 

the cells alone. 

 

 Inspector Armstrong was also asked about what happens to written 

directives.  He replied "That's a good question...it doesn't take long for them to 

disappear...it's happened many times."  He stated that, in order to rectify this 

problem, he purchased a lock and key cabinet to store the documents.  Duty and 

staff sergeants have a key to this cabinet, however, the custodians do not and are  

unable to access the documents themselves. 

 

 With regard to the final draft of the Policy on the Care and Handling of 

Prisoners, Inspector Armstrong acknowledged that, in hindsight, he had missed an 

opportunity to incorporate all directives (e.g., intoxicated prisoners) and should 

have done so.  He did not know why Inspector Banfield had not done so because 

he had discussed this directive with him over coffee.   

 

 In 1964, Inspector Jack Banfield was sworn in as a constable with the 

Glace Bay Police Department.  He was the deputy chief in Glace Bay at the time of 

amalgamation in 1995.  He assisted Inspector Ray Armstrong with the drafting of 

the Policy. 

 

 In January 1998, Inspector Banfield was appointed as the inspector in 

charge of Central Division which included the lock-up.  He stated that he saw the 

Policy (Ex.73) "many, many times" in the lock-up.  It was on the lobby counter 

when he copied it for Roy Kennedy (Police and Public Safety Service Division of 
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the Nova Scotia Department of Justice) in December 1998 for his audit.  No one 

ever questioned the Policy.  Although Inspector Banfield had never had 

discussions with custodians regarding physical checks, he often observed them 

doing physical checks.  He stated that the monitors were just an "added tool". 

 

 As the inspector in charge of the lock-up, Inspector Banfield periodically 

checked the Prisoner Contact Log Sheets.  He did not review the video tapes 

because, at the time, the video cameras were thought of as being there to assist 

custodians, not to check up on them.  Since Mr. Bailey's death, however, the 

video tapes are reviewed to assess custodian performance. 

 

 Inspector Banfield dealt with Ms. Butler on numerous occasions and 

described her as "one who never had a problem expressing her opinion".  She 

often came to him regarding scheduling problems.  For example, the shift for 

custodians had been 12 to 12, but this was changed to 7 to 7 at the request of 

custodians and with the consent of their union.  He confirmed that custodians 

have the right to refuse prisoners, but he has never seen it happen.  He believes 

that Ms. Butler is a competent custodian.  He had not reviewed the Policy on the 

Care and Handling of Prisoners with her.  He stated that all staff sergeants would 

have received a copy of the Policy when it was drafted.  It was circulated, 

explained and inserted into each Division binder.  Inspector Banfield expected the 

staff sergeants to ensure that the Policy was explained to the custodians.    

 

 Inspector Banfield investigated the Form 5 public complaint filed by Lillian 

and Paula Bailey.  His report was submitted to the Inquiry and he was called to 

give evidence.  He stated that, when reviewing the matter from a public 

complaints point of view, the relevant police officer's conduct is examined.   

 

In the Bailey matter the complaint was phrased more in the way of a series 

of questions from the family and Inspector Banfield was able to find some answers 

for them.  It did not occur to him to review the answers with the Bailey family, 

nor to supply copies of the video tapes of Mr. Bailey's cell.  He acknowledged that 

this approach would have likely answered many of their questions.  He stated 

that, at the time, he was unsure of what authority he had to release the video 

tapes or to provide information to the Bailey family.  Nor did he want to interfere 

with the ongoing OPP investigation into Mr. Bailey's death.     

 

 Inspector Robert MacLean had been trained as a military police officer with 

the Canadian military.  He joined the Glace Bay force in 1974 and was appointed 
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as an inspector with the Cape Breton Regional Service in 1995.  He was assigned 

to Central Division in January 2000, replacing Inspector Banfield.  He took over 

responsibility for the lock-up and remained in that position until January 2003. 

 

 Inspector MacLean gave evidence at the Inquiry on February 10, 2003.  He 

stated that the Cape Breton Regional Police Service's written Policy on the Care 

and Handling of Prisoners existed at the time of Mr. Bailey's death and that it was 

in the top right hand drawer of the front desk at the lock-up.  Following Mr. 

Bailey's death, Inspector MacLean became aware of the issue regarding physical 

versus monitor checks.  He had the Prisoner Contact Log Sheet changed so that 

there were columns for noting both kinds of checks. 

 

 Inspector MacLean advised that custodians can speak up at any time 

regarding a prisoner's condition.  They should speak with the duty sergeant, who 

ultimately makes the decision as to whether or not a prisoner should be taken to 

a hospital for further observation.  He was not aware of any reluctance of 

custodians to speak up in these kinds of situations; if they were afraid to speak to 

an officer, he was never made aware of the problem.  

 

 

(iii)  The Nova Scotia Department of Justice Regarding Lock-ups 
 

 Dennis P. Kelly was seconded to the Department of Justice, Police and 

Public Safety Services (PPSS) from the Halifax Regional Police in 1993.  He was 

responsible for audits of municipal police agencies, development of standard 

operational procedures, and for general consultation with police boards, services 

and municipal councils.  In 1997, he became Director of Operations of PPSS and 

was still in that position when he gave evidence at the Inquiry.   

 

Mr. Kelly explained that his office has an oversight responsibility under the 

Police Act.  It provides consultative services to police forces and others involved in 

policing.  It coordinates some training and conducts audits, inspections and 

reviews of police departments throughout the province.  It also deals with other 

matters involving policing as directed from time to time by the Minister of Justice.  

 

 Mr. Kelly testified at the Inquiry regarding the development and 

implementation of Standard Operating Procedures (SOP's).  His office established 

a Training and Standard Advisory Committee to explore training and standards 

generally.  The Committee involved chiefs of police who gave their insight and 
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advice regarding those issues.  His department has a training coordinator who 

organizes and conducts in-house training of police officers.  There are some 

monies in his budget for this service.  When questioned as to whether his 

department knew of or prepared any training courses on recognizing the signs of 

drug and alcohol intoxication, he answered that he was unaware of any such 

training courses.  He stated that the problem of cell deaths hasn't been addressed 

and really hadn't been discussed before he gave his evidence.   

 

 Following Mr. Bailey's death, Dennis Kelly's office sent a memo to all police 

departments notifying these agencies of the dangers inherent in mistaking 

intoxication by drugs for alcohol abuse.  Information coming to him from other 

jurisdictions would generally be shared with police departments and other 

agencies.  However, as of the date of his testimony, there did not appear to be 

any formal approach to receiving relevant information from other jurisdictions and 

disseminating the information to police departments and other agencies.   

 

 Dennis Kelly confirmed that the Cape Breton Regional Police Service has 

started their own internal auditing.  His division was working on standards for 

internal audits that he hoped would be available to police departments in the near 

future. With departments conducting their own audits, the provincial department 

would be able to focus on specific issues as they arose. They would continue their 

oversight role to ensure that the internal audits were complying with provincial 

standards.  With reference to this Inquiry, Mr. Kelly did not have any suggestions 

to offer the Commission.  His division would review and respond to the 

recommendations arising out of this Inquiry. 

 

 The Nova Scotia Department of Justice assigned H. Roy Kennedy to 

monitor the Inquiry and to report back on its findings.  Roy Kennedy was a 

veteran officer with the Halifax Police Department for 22 years.  He had been 

employed as a Police and Public Safety consultant by the Nova Scotia Department 

of Justice, Police and Public Safety Division, since 1997.  He was assigned the 

duty of inspecting lock-up facilities of police departments within the province, and 

gave evidence at the Inquiry on February 6, 2003.  It was his practice to advise 

the relevant lock-up of the date that he would be coming in to do an inspection.  

Once the inspection was complete, he would give a verbal report to the 

Department of Justice which was followed up with a written report.  Roy Kennedy 

inspected the Cape Breton Regional Police Service lock-up on Grand Lake Road on 

December 2, 1998 and submitted the requisite written report on March 2, 1999. 
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 In his evidence, Roy Kennedy referred to a document entitled "Standing 

Orders of Lock-up Facilities" issued by the Province in 1997.  He confirmed that 

some lock-ups have these Provincial Standing Orders (PSOs) in their facility while 

others have developed their own.  The written policies that a facility develops are 

acceptable as long as they meet certain minimum criteria and comply with the 

PSOs. 

 

 A facility's policy document should have a cover page with space for each 

employee to sign indicating they have read and understood the document.  In 

fact, the PSOs are very broad and there are numerous sections that are relevant 

to institutions rather than to police lock-ups.  Mr. Kennedy stated that it is 

important that the facility's written policy be in the lock-up area and available to 

all staff.  It is not necessary for each staff member to have their own copy, but it 

is a requirement that they each sign the cover page, indicating they have read 

and understood the document, including subsequent amendments. 

 

 When he inspected the CBRPS lock-up on Grand Lake Road, the relevant 

PSO's were encompassed in The Cape Breton Regional Police Service Policy: Care 

and Handling of Prisoners.  Roy Kennedy saw a copy of the Policy in the lock-up 

by the monitors.  He requested and was given a copy.  He noted in his written 

report that, although the Policy existed and was available in the lock-up, it had 

not been signed off by the custodians.  Further, there was no record that each 

custodian had been given a copy to review. 

 

 The CBRPS Policy that existed at the time Mr. Kennedy did his inspection 

contained a number of provisions that are germaine to this Inquiry.  Of particular 

relevance are the following sections:    

 

 C.  General 

 

1.5 Personnel employed in the lock-up facility shall report any 

incident involving injury, property damage, illness, or failure of 

equipment under their control to the supervising NCO.  The 

supervising NCO shall report any major incident to the on-call 

manager. 

1.6 The Major Crime Unit is responsible for investigating any 

significant incident or criminal complaints in the lock-up facility. 
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 D. Booking 

 

2.4 The arresting officer(s) is responsible for the search of all 

prisoners, and the removal of all effects that may be used to 

cause harm to themselves or others. 

2.7 Officers shall take note of the health of the prisoner including any 

injury, or medical alert warnings prior to the prisoner being 

turned over to the jailer on duty. 

2.8 The arresting officer(s) is responsible for placing the detained 

person in the cell prior to departure. 

 

 E. Telephone 

  

3.5 Custodians are required to inform persons arrested for 

intoxication that, if requested, they will notify a family member 

that they are in custody.  The request will be noted on the 

prisoner log sheet. 

 

 G. Detention 

  

5.1 The Custodian of the lock-up facility shall sign the prisoner record 

form as the person responsible and place the copy, along with 

the prisoner's personal effects, in a secured locker. 

5.2 The Custodian on duty shall physically check each prisoner at 

least every fifteen minutes.  Time checks will be staggered and 

noted on the prisoner's log sheet. 

5.4 Should the prisoner complain of any illness, injury or a suicide 

attempt be made, the Duty NCO shall be notified immediately 

and medical aid provided as soon as possible. 

 

 Roy Kennedy concluded in his report that the Policy was "thorough and 

well thought-out".  The facility itself was well-maintained.  Logs, property reports 

and other documents revealed that the staff was knowledgeable and professional, 

and that most policies were adhered to.  He cited certain concerns for the CBRPS 

to address, and noted that there should be a written record or copy of orders and 

directives given to the custodians for review.  He stated that in discussions with 

Inspector Banfield, he understood that a sign-off sheet for custodians would be 

done.  However, he did not receive anything from him in writing regarding the 
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matter and he did not follow-up on the issue.  Roy Kennedy noted that he 

received excellent cooperation from CBRPS. 

 

 When giving evidence, Roy Kennedy stated that he believed a physical 

check of prisoners was a fairly simple concept.  He stated that anyone who has 

been around policing would know that a physical check is required, and that the 

monitor is an added safety measure.  Mr. Kennedy advised that relying solely on 

the CCTV monitors was not acceptable; if the custodians can't make a check, it 

should be noted on the Prisoner Contact Log Sheet. 

 

 At the time of James Bailey's death, there was no policy in place requiring 

an intoxicated inmate be roused, although it may have been the practice.  Since 

James Bailey's death, all lock-up facilities in Nova Scotia have a copy of the 4R's 

Observation Check List (Appendix A119). 
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Conclusions 
 

The primary responsibility of custodians is to protect the welfare of 

prisoners.  They are also responsible for their own safety.  Therefore, when 

accepting a prisoner into their custody these principles must be kept in mind.  

They can and should refuse any prisoner they believe would compromise their 

safety or the prisoner’s safety. 

 

The CCTV provides custodians with a means to constantly monitor 

prisoners but this tool was never intended to replace physical checks.  Ms. Butler 

testified that it was acceptable to substitute CCTV monitor checks for physical 

checks.  Although she remained adamant, even under cross examination, this was 

a complete reversal from her original statements given to the CBRPS and  the OPP 

during their investigations.   

 

Ms. Butler raised a number of issues that are summarized previously on 

page 19 and 20 of this report.  Although these were claims made by Ms. Butler it 

should be noted that she was aware that the inspector was in charge, and was the 

one she would approach regarding shift issues.  She was also aware that Sergeant 

O'Rourke was in charge on the night of Mr. Bailey's death.  Therefore, her claim 

that there was no clear indication of who was in charge of the lock-up is 

contradicted by her own evidence.  The balance of her claims have been refuted 

by more reliable evidence. 

 

It is quite clear that Ms. Butler was surprised by what she learned from the 

video tapes.  Notwithstanding her adamancy that it was acceptable to substitute 

monitor checks for physical checks, she genuinely believed she was doing 

frequent physical checks until confronted with the reality of the tapes.  She 

admitted surprise that she had become so dependent on the monitors.  It is likely 

that she was not the only custodian who had relaxed this aspect of their job.   

 

 It was unfortunate that several officers, including Constables Max Sehl, 

Paul MacDonald and Sergeant O'Rourke, refused to provide statements to any 

investigator including to this Commission's investigator.  In Nova Scotia there is 

no legal obligation for police officers to answer questions put to them by 

investigators because the Police Act is silent in this regard.  Section 4(4) of the 

Police Act Regulations imposes a positive duty to cooperate with the Police 

Commission and the Police Review Board.  This section can be used to compel 

"witness" officers who need to be compelled but has not been used to compel 
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officers who may be the subject of a complaint.  It has been the view that 

because the Police Act is silent in this regard, compelling such an officer would not 

withstand the "self incrimination" test before the superior courts. 

 

 The issue of whether police officers should be compelled to give 

statements in these circumstances is a matter of debate in various Canadian and 

international jurisdictions.  Officers can routinely claim the possibility of becoming 

"subject" officers and be excused from providing a statement if they believe that 

their statement could be used against them in any subsequent disciplinary matter. 

This is unfortunate, particularly in this case where input from several officers (and 

most importantly from Constables Max Sehl, Paul MacDonald and Sergeant 

O'Rourke) would have answered many questions.  This Commission accepts that 

these officers were not compellable but it does question the wisdom in choosing 

not to give a statement until compelled by a Commission of Inquiry.  
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Findings: 
 

 The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

 Custodians: 
 

1. The Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners was present in the 

lock-up and accessible to custodians from as early as January 1998.  A 

pre-existing version was present in the Sydney jail when it was in use, 

and at the Grand Lake Road lock-up until it was replaced by the new 

Policy. 

 

2. The Cape Breton Regional Police Service did have a written policy 

requiring a physical check of all prisoners every 15 minutes.   

 

3. All custodians were aware of the Policy. 

 

4. The custodians did receive adequate training when the Grand Lake 

Road lock-up opened. 

 

5. Mr. Bailey walked to cell #4 with minimal assistance from Constable 

Sehl and Ms. Butler. 

 

6. Ms. Butler had come to rely heavily on the CCTV monitors for checking 

on prisoners.  As such, she failed to do her 15 muniute checks as 

required by the Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners. 

 

7. Management for the Cape Breton Regional Police Service failed to 

adequately supervise the custodians or to do perfomance reviews.  

Had they done so, certain custodian’s predeliction for substituting 

monitor checks for physical checks would have likely been discovered 

and corrected. 

 

8. The activity at the Grand Lake Road lock-up was not unusual on the 

night of May 16, 2000. 

 

9. Had it been necessary, Ms. Butler could have asked, and likely would 

have received assistance. 
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10. Without a signature sheet on the front of the Policy on the Care and 

Handling of Prisoners or any of its amendments, it is impossible to 

know who distributed the documents, and which personnel read and 

understood them. 

 

11. The custodians employed by CBRPS are now following the directives 

noted in the Policy, and management has developed methods to make 

sure that these are being adhered to. 

 

 Police Officers 
 

12. Constable Max Sehl was remiss in misplacing his notebook containing 

his notes for the night he arrested Mr. Bailey. 

 

13. Sergeant O’Rourke did not fully understand his responsibilities as duty 

sergeant as they related to the lock-up and its personnel. 

 

14. Inspector Armstrong’s initial handling of memos was disorganized. 

 

15. When drafting the Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners 

Inspectors Armstrong and Banfield neglected to provide policy for the 

handling of intoxicated prisoners. 

 

 Nova Scotia Department of Justice Regarding Lock-ups 
 

16. Notwithstanding H. Roy Kennedy’s finding that the Policy is “thorough 

and well thought out”, further amendments to the Policy are still 

needed. 



 
            Page  40 

<<<    The Events in the Lock-up      >>>   
  

 
Recommendations: 
 
 

1. Custodians must have training to adequately perform all of their 

duties.  Experienced custodians may or may not require the same 

training as inexperienced custodians.  Training and orientation for 

newly hired custodians (experienced or inexperienced) must include a 

review of the policies of the relevant lock-up, and those policies must 

be signed off within a reasonable period of time from when the 

custodian commences work in that lock-up. 

 

2. The employer must satisfy itself that all its employees are qualified to 

perform their duties.  All police forces in Nova Scotia must provide the 

necessary training for their custodians. 

 

3. Training of custodians should include, at a minimum, note-taking, 

document management, suicide intervention, conflict management, 

intoxicated prisoner management, proper use of force, standard first 

aid, basic CPR, and fire prevention and control. 

 

4. Research and development must be undertaken to ensure that training 

for police officers and lock-up custodians is current and relevant.  An 

example of a current issue includes the specific ability to recognize 

intoxication by drugs and alcohol (together and individually) as 

potentially lethal, as well as the general ability to effectively manage 

the intoxicated person. 

 

5. Lock-up supervisors (duty sergeants) should have, at a minimum, 

basic supervisory training and should be encouraged through financial 

and other incentives to pursue advanced supervisory training.   

 
6. The Policy for the Care and Handling of Prisoners shall: 

 

a. expressly state that custodians have the authority to refuse 

a prisoner for medical or health reasons; 

b. incorporate the Provincial Standard Operating Procedure 

language for dealing with a prisoner’s medication;  

c. expressly state that a medical evaluation is required for all 

prisoners deemed to be high risk by either a custodian, an 
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arresting officer or any other person in authority over that 

prisoner; and 

d. provide for increased monitoring of prisoners described in 

(c). 

 

7. The Operational Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners should be 

amended to direct the arresting officer to check for CPIC and in-house 

records to assist in determining if the prisoner has an arrest history, a 

history of mental illness, suicidal tendencies, a history of drug use, or 

other information relevant to the prisoner's well-being while in the 

lock-up. 

 

8. The Prisoner Contact Log Sheet should be amended to include an area 

for the arresting officer to confirm that such a check was made, and to 

provide any relevant information obtained from that search. 

 

9. References to specific personnel, e.g., duty NCO or duty sergeant, 

supervising manager or duty supervisor, should not be used 

interchangeably.  One preferred reference should be decided upon and 

used consistently throughout all police service documents. 

 

10. Supervision of lock-up documentation is the responsibility of the duty 

sergeant.  The duty sergeant must review and sign all Prisoner Contact 

Log Sheets at the beginning and end of every shift.  The Log Sheets 

shall contain: 

 

• long hand notes or comments made by the custodian(s). Ditto 

marks or other duplication marks (e.g., check marks) are not 

acceptable.  Custodians are not to use such marks under any 

circumstances except where specifically indicated (i.e., boxes for 

checking). 

 

• a column for physical checks and a column for observations made 

using the video monitor.  Custodians shall indicate the manner of 

each prisoner check made at the relevant time. 

 

• the real time of the prisoner check.  Custodians are to make 

staggered checks (i.e., not regular quarter-hour checks) 

according to current CBRPS policy. 
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11. The CBRPS and other police departments should, on a regular basis, 

review and redraft policies as necessary to eliminate conflicts within 

various Provincial Standard Operating Procedures pertaining to police 

lock-ups and their own policy documents.   

 

12. The lock-up facility must be respected by police officers and others 

who attend in the area.  It should not be used for other purposes such 

as a through way or meeting place. 

 

13. If the design or location of a facility creates a problem like the one in 

the Grand Lake Road Facility in Sydney (where personnel used the 

lock-up facility as a through fare) then it should be redesigned and 

appropriate renovations carried out. 

 

14. There should be a segregated cell for high risk prisoners (intoxicated, 

known history of suicide or mental illness).  If a segregated cell is not 

available, then there should be a detailed protocol to ensure the safety 

of high risk prisoners. 

 

15. CCTV recording systems and audio recording systems should be made 

mandatory for all cells, cell blocks and surrounding areas. 

 

16. Custodians should be provided with unlimited access to the memos and 

written directives. 

 

17. A performance evaluation process for custodians must be developed 

and implemented.  Subsequent performance evaluations must be 

carried out for every employee of the CBRPS on an annual or biannual 

basis as time and finances permit.  

 

18. Annual inspections of all police lock-ups by the Department of Justice 

must continue. 

 

19. The possibility and means of receiving and disseminating information 

received from other jurisdictions should be explored.  The possibility of 

this information transfer in conjunction with the Nova Scotia Police 

Commission should be explored. 
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C. The Lack of Resuscitation Efforts by Police Service Personnel 
 

Shortly after Carmel Butler discovered Mr. Bailey unresponsive in his cell, 

she called Sergeant O'Rourke and asked him to return to the lock-up. He arrived 

with Constable Paul McDonald within 5 minutes of her call. However, none of the 

three Police Service employees assessed Mr. Bailey for breathing or circulation, 

nor did they initiate cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Video footage from the lobby 

area and cell #4 show the steps these employees took prior to the arrival of the 

paramedics.  Consequently almost 10 minutes elapsed before the paramedics 

arrived and began resuscitation efforts. 

 

 During the Inquiry the issue of first aid and CPR training of CBRPS officers 

and its employees was thoroughly canvassed.  The training and ability of each 

employee present in the lock-up that night was examined, as well as the 

equipment available in the jail.  Questions were raised regarding the availability of 

certain equipment, where it is kept, and who is responsible for its maintenance.   

 

 Ms. Butler stated that she was certified in first aid and CPR shortly after 

the amalgamation of the Cape Breton police forces in 1995. The course was four 

days in length. She could not recall when she had last recertified although she 

mentioned that she had taken further prisoner safety courses (use of restraints, 

transporting, detecting potentially harmful objects on prisoners). She stated that 

notwithstanding that her certification had expired, she still knew CPR but never 

had to use it.  Under cross-examination, she agreed that she used her first aid 

training and "years of experience" to determine that Mr. Bailey looked like he had 

expired. 

 

 Cape Breton Regional Municipality statistics (OPP Volume 6, p. 0003) show 

that Ms. Butler completed a four day St. John Ambulance Standard First Aid and 

Level C CPR course in April of 1999. Her certification was therefore valid until April 

2001.  Ms. Butler stated that she did not initiate CPR because custodians are not 

permitted to enter cells without an officer. This is for custodian safety as prisoners 

may be pretending to be dead or unconscious in order to lure them into the cell. 

 

 Carmel Butler said she knew where the first aid kit was kept. She said 

there was a barrier mask in the desk, but she could not recall if she had been 

trained to use it.  She also believed there was a piece missing from the mask. At 

the Inquiry Ms. Butler initially stated that she did not bring this to anyone's 

attention as she did not work day shifts and was told by another custodian that 
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building maintenance was responsible for keeping the first aid kit and equipment 

stocked. Later on the same day, she stated that she had told Anthony Campbell 

that the mask was missing a piece and that he had agreed with her. 

 

 The day after Mr. Bailey's demise, Ms. Butler submitted a written informal 

"incident report" to Sergeant John O'Rourke at his request. She also gave 

statements to the CBRPS, OPP, and the NS Police Commission investigator during 

their investigations. She stated that Inspector Banfield did not interview her at 

any time during his investigation into the Form 5 complaint by the Bailey family. 

 

 Sergeant John O'Rourke was the duty sergeant that night. He stated that 

in 2000 he was not certified in CPR. This was corroborated by independent 

evidence.  He acknowledged that he had seen the barrier mask in the desk drawer 

but he had never had an occasion to use it. He stated he was not responsible for 

the first aid and CPR equipment.  A need for supplies was never brought to his 

attention and he was not familiar with the procedure for procuring supplies. 

However, he was confident there would have been no problem getting anything 

that was needed. 

 

 Sergeant O'Rourke gave evidence regarding his experience with 

"hundreds" of deceased people, both the elderly at home (75%) and accident 

victims. He said he had never seen anyone successfully resuscitated. He described 

the difference between discovering someone shortly after they had died, and 

someone who had been dead for a while. He described Mr. Bailey's condition when 

he entered the cell and stated there was a stale smell. Sergeant O'Rourke's 

description of Mr. Bailey was contradicted by documentary and oral evidence 

given by the emergency personnel who worked on him in the cell and in the 

Emergency Department of the CBHCC.   

 

 After entering cell # 4 and taking a very brief look at James Bailey, 

Sergeant O'Rourke returned to the desk and picked up the phone.  He remained 

on the phone with the ambulance attendant and conveyed instructions to 

Constable MacDonald who was in the cell to: 

 

1. roll Mr. Bailey onto his back and do a "look and listen". Constable 

MacDonald did so and left the cell. 

 

2. tip Mr. Bailey's head back to check his airway. Constable MacDonald 

did so and left the cell again. 



 
            Page  45 

 

 

<<<    Evidence, Findings, Conclusions & Recommendations      >>>   

3. give Mr. Bailey two breaths. Constable MacDonald did not do this but 

left the cell.  A more detailed sequence of events can be found in 

Appendix A155. 

 

 Sergeant O'Rourke stated that when he asked Ms. Butler for the barrier 

mask she told him it was broken and consequently did not look for it. At this time 

the paramedics arrived.  Sergeant O'Rourke did not follow up to ensure that a 

replacement mask was requested following the incident.  

 

 Constable Paul MacDonald was certified in CPR and first aid at the Atlantic 

Police Academy in 1986, and again at the Glace Bay Police Department. He was 

recertified in CPR and first aid on February 24, 2000, less than three months 

before Mr. Bailey died. His St. John's Ambulance certificate shows that, in addition 

to standard first aid, he took 14 elective lessons.  This training included Level C 

CPR training which is required for all employees.  Therefore, the person in the cell 

most qualified to deliver assistance to Mr. Bailey was Constable Paul MacDonald. 

He did not require directions to carry out the procedures conveyed to him through 

Sergeant O'Rourke from emergency personnel. 

 

 On the video tape, Constable MacDonald is seen entering the lock-up 

without gloves.  He is then seen entering the cell wearing black, heavy looking 

gloves with which he attempts to take a carotid pulse. Independent expert 

evidence was clear that this would not be possible. He attempted to do the "look 

and listen" – the most basic step in CPR and a step that is possible to do without 

physical contact – from a height of approximately two feet. Properly done, the 

rescuer places his or her cheek close to the victim's mouth, listens for breathing 

and looks at the chest for the rise and fall motion of breathing. He did tip Mr. 

Bailey's head back and looked inside his mouth. Between each of these steps 

Constable McDonald left the cell.  He also described Mr. Bailey's physical condition 

and his evidence was also contradicted by the documentary and oral evidence of 

emergency personnel who worked on Mr. Bailey in the cell and at the Emergency 

Department. 

 

 Constable MacDonald explained his lack of intervention as being based on 

extensive experience dealing with dead people.  His specific experiences with 

decedents were listed for the Inquiry.  He argued that, based on his experience, 

he is able to determine when a person is dead and was therefore justified in not 

initiating any form of first aid or CPR. It was Constable MacDonald's position that 

officers should have the discretion to initiate CPR or not. 
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Conclusions: 
 

 From the time Mr. Bailey was discovered to the arrival of the EHS 

personnel, there was significant confusion regarding the presence or absence of a 

first aid kit in the lock-up area, where it was located, what was in it, and whether 

or not there was a mask in it and the mask’s condition. No one person was 

responsible for maintaining the first aid and CPR equipment. There were 

inconsistencies in first aid and CPR recertification dates of employees.  While the 

CBRPS documents show a list of employees purported to have certified or 

recertified in first aid and CPR, documents subsequently submitted by the Service 

appear to contradict the information on the list. 

 

 It is also clear from the evidence that the three employees present, those 

in a position to render assistance, were extremely reluctant to do so.  Ms. Butler 

explained her reluctance to enter a cell without a police officer as based in Policy.  

 

 The police officers, unfortunately, refused to give statements to any 

investigator. There is nothing in their notes corroborating their reasons for 

withholding assistance. Not until the Inquiry did they attempt to explain their 

reluctance. Constable MacDonald's explanation at the Inquiry was that he knew 

Mr. Bailey was dead and did not feel resuscitative efforts would be beneficial.  

However, such a simple and benign explanation begs the question of why he was 

so reluctant to give a statement to the initial investigators.  

 

 The lack of intervention by Sergeant O'Rourke, Constable MacDonald and 

Ms. Butler cannot be ignored when considering the demise of James Bailey.  

Whether or not these failures contributed to his demise, or whether a well-

organized first aid policy and procedure would have prevented his demise, is not 

the issue.  What is at issue is whether the CBRPS employees are ready and able 

to render assistance as needed. 

 

 Police officers are first responders to many scenes involving mortally 

wounded victims. They are trained in CPR and first aid because they are first 

responders.  They are neither lay people who happen upon an accident, nor the 

morbidly curious who stop to watch.  They are there because that is their job.  It 

is not their job to determine whether it will be possible to revive a victim.  That is 

for properly qualified medical personnel. There is a public expectation that police 

officers will intervene and provide assistance.  The public should further have the 
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confidence in their police forces that when someone is in their custody they will be 

given the full benefit of their training. 

 

 This does not mean that police officers or its employees should be required 

to endanger themselves in delivering first aid or CPR.  To attempt to resuscitate 

an unknown victim without proper protection would be foolhardy in today's 

climate of communicable diseases.  The practice of prohibiting custodians from 

entering cells when alone in the lock-up is a sound one.  However, access to back 

up personnel in order to be able to render assistance is therefore a must.  In 

addition, the officers and employees must be properly equipped, aware of where 

the equipment is kept, and trained in the use of such equipment.  As this involves 

allocation of money and human resources, management must assume 

responsibility for ensuring that officers and employees are properly trained and 

regularly recertified in, aware of their obligation to, and capable of performing 

first aid and CPR.   

 

 The reluctance of the employees present in the lock-up to initiate any CPR 

or first aid raises the question of whether or not they were properly trained to 

provide such assistance.  When questioned about their training, most of the 

officers were vague as to recalling dates of training and re-certification.  Although 

the policy calls for recertification every two years, many of the employees giving 

evidence had not recertified within the required period.  The time for 

recertifications must be treated as minimal, and not as a general guideline.   

 

 Equipment cannot be considered adequate unless it conforms to standards, 

is accessible to potential users and the potential users know where it is when they 

need it. Therefore, someone must be designated as being responsible for 

maintaining the first aid and CPR equipment. During the Inquiry, it became 

apparent that no one person considered themself responsible for ensuring the first 

aid and CPR equipment was in working condition and properly supplied.   

 

 A related matter was the accessibility of the CPR mask in the lock-up.  The 

presence or absence of a one-way valve was not resolved as there was no record 

of the mask's existence nor its condition or usability.   

 

 Perhaps most important is Constable MacDonald's argument that police 

officers should have the discretion to initiate resuscitation. This is only valid to a 

point and would come with significant accountability. No one would expect 

resuscitation to be started on someone obviously dead (e.g., extreme physical 
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injury, death occurring several hours to days previous). However, if police officers 

are given the discretion to withhold such efforts, they must be accountable. Their 

reasons must be clearly outlined in their notebooks and a process must be 

developed for management to review such incidents.  Police officers must be 

prepared to provide specific and detailed reasons when called upon to explain 

their inaction. 
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Findings: 
 
The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. Some of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service employees were not 

properly certified in first aid and CPR. 

 

2. Having recertified in first aid and CPR within three months of Mr. 

Bailey's death, Constable MacDonald did not require direction on how 

to assess Mr. Bailey and should have independently done so as soon 

as he entered the cell. 

 

3. It is highly unlikely that Constable MacDonald would have been able to 

detect a pulse through his heavy gloves. 

 

4. Constable MacDonald failed to adequately explain his reluctance to 

properly follow basic first aid assessment ("look and listen"; feeling for 

a pulse).  

 

5. There was a positive duty to administer first aid and CPR to James 

Bailey.  If police officers are to be afforded any discretion in this 

regard, then they must be prepared to explain their decision to 

withhold administering first aid and CPR. 

 

6. In light of the confusion surrounding the existence or accessibility of a 

barrier mask, the reluctance of Sergeant O'Rourke, Constable 

MacDonald and Carmel Butler to administer the breathing portion of 

CPR was not unreasonable. However, their failure to start chest 

compressions was not reasonable. 

 

7. Lack of knowledge and training in the use of the barrier mask 

contributed to this confusion. 

 

8. The absence of a designated person to maintain and to record the 

maintenance of the first aid kit and equipment also contributed to this 

confusion. 
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Recommendations: 
 

1. Recertification of employees must take place within the recommended 

periods.  Skills that are not used on a regular basis are often lost.  

More importantly, new developments in first aid and CPR delivery are 

not disseminated.  Consequently, the most effective rescue techniques 

are not available for immediate use.  During recertification the 

location of the first aid and CPR equipment in the lock-up, verification 

that each officer has a certified mask and the situations when officers 

would be obligated to provide CPR assistance, should be reviewed.  To 

that end, it would be wise for the CBRPS to invest in training an officer 

as a first aid – CPR instructor to provide tailored training for their 

needs, or to engage an instructor to become familiar with the specific 

needs of the Service. 

 

2. Following a review of the Police Act and other relevant legislation, and 

in conjunction with the Police Association, a policy regarding the 

obligation of police officers to provide first aid and CPR, as well as 

their discretion to withhold resuscitation in prescribed instances, 

should be developed. The policy should include a clear explanation of 

prescribed instances and a description of consequently required note-

taking.  As well, it should incorporate mechanisms for review of each 

incident and directives regarding the obligation of police officers to 

participate in any subsequent investigation. 

 

3. Necessary first aid and CPR equipment should be determined in 

consultation with relevant service providers (e.g. St. John’s 

Ambulance, Workers’ Compensation Board).  A first aid station should 

be set up in a central location within the lock-up, and high-visibility 

signs should be posted accordingly.  These signs should include one 

that would be visible in the event of a power-outage. 

 

4. Physically checking and maintaining first aid and CPR equipment 

should be designated in the job description of one person each day.  

Methods used by nursing units and paramedics can be easily tailored 

and incorporated into the regular routine of the lock-up. 
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D. The Role of the Communications Centre 
 
 Issues regarding the Communication Centre were examined by the OPP 

and by this Inquiry. The Inquiry heard evidence from Mr. Robert MacVey who was 

in charge of the CBRPS Communications Centre located in the Grand Lake Road 

Facility in Sydney. It also heard from dispatchers Judy McNeil and Patti Lynn 

Ropek, and listened to the 911 recording of the conversation. The panel was given 

a tour of the Communication Centre by Mr. MacVey. 

 

 Three issues arose from knowledge about the operations of the 

Communications Centre: 

 

1. There was a concern that the Communications Centre could not 

transfer calls to departments within the police force and therefore 

could not transfer the emergency call from the lock-up directly to the 

ambulance dispatcher. 

 

2. When the police dispatcher, Judy McNeil, received a call from James 

Bailey, she confused his last name. She did not have him spell his last 

name and consequently sought information from several sources for a 

James Barry.   

 

3. Following Mr. Bailey's death, Judy McNeil contacted Constable Sehl 

through the dispatch telephone. Consequently the conversation was 

recorded. During that conversation, comments were made and some 

laughter exchanged that may have been inappropriate. 

 

 The Commission of Inquiry examined these issues and heard from 

interested parties. 

 

(1) Call Transfers 

 

Judy McNeil gave statements to the OPP and to the Police Commission, and 

gave evidence at the Inquiry. 

 

 Upon discovering James Bailey unresponsive in his cell, Ms. Butler dialed 

911 and spoke to Judy McNeil. Ms. McNeil called the ambulance dispatcher Shelly 

Sullivan (who was located in Bedford, NS). Ms. McNeil could not transfer the call 

so that Ms. Sullivan could speak directly to Ms. Butler. At one time the dispatcher 
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had had the capability to transfer such calls but it was disabled because it was 

being misused.  CBRPS personnel would call the Communications Centre asking to 

be transferred to any department, as this was faster than re-dialing the number 

and making the call directly.  

 

Although the feature allowing for transfers between the Communications 

Centre and the ambulance dispatcher was re-established in November 1999,    

Ms. McNeil was unsure how reliable the system was and therefore asked the 

ambulance dispatcher to call the lock-up directly.  However, there was no means 

for the ambulance dispatcher to speak directly with the person attempting to 

render assistance in the cell.  Consequently information and instructions were 

exchanged by relay thereby causing unnecessary delays and contributing to 

further confusion. 

 

(2) Information-Taking    

 

 CBRPS dispatcher Judy McNeil received a call from Mr. Bailey on the 

evening of May 16, 2000.  He called to inquire why the police were looking for 

him, and to say that when the police picked him up he would rather go to "detox". 

 

 Ms. McNeil did not ask him to spell his name and believed she heard him 

say the name "Barry".  He was obviously intoxicated.  She checked with several 

police departments to see if they were looking for a James "Barry"; none were.  

Ms. McNeil tried to call Mr. Bailey but the number he had given her was busy.  

She then overheard another dispatcher, Patti Lynn Ropek, take a call from the 

same address and assumed the matter would be dealt with properly.   

 

Mr. Bailey's call was not an emergency call and he should not have dialed 

911.  In such instances the dispatcher has the capability to end the call by 

pressing a button activating a pre-recorded statement instructing the caller on the 

proper use of 911, and providing the appropriate non-emergency phone numbers. 

Proper procedure would have been for Ms. McNeil to use this option. She did not, 

believing she could be of assistance to him. 

 

(3) Recorded Conversation  

 

 As part of their investigation, the OPP examined the audio tapes from the 

Communications Centre, including Mr. Bailey's call, Bernard MacIntyre's call and 

Ms. McNeil's calls to the police. During their investigation, a recorded conversation 
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that took place between Constable Max Sehl and Dispatcher Judy McNeil shortly 

after Mr. Bailey's death came to light. It was taped as part of the routine of the 

Communications Centre and was therefore not a private conversation. If heard by 

anyone else, the conversation would have been inappropriate. It contained what 

has been described as "laughter" and inappropriate comments. During the 

Inquiry, much ado was made of this conversation. Counsel for the Bailey family 

insisted that it demonstrated a cavalier attitude toward James Bailey; that it 

explained why Mr. Bailey was "dumped" in the lock-up instead of being taken to 

hospital. They described what they heard as laughter and joking.  

 

 Ms. McNeil stated that she had called Constable Sehl because he is a friend 

and she knew he would be upset about Mr. Bailey's death. She wanted to be sure 

he was "okay". She placed the call through dispatch and neglected to consider 

that the call was being taped. She stated that the death was not a subject of 

humour; that people respond differently to stressful situations. She further stated 

that neither she nor Constable Sehl found the situation funny and that both have 

been referred for sensitivity training. 

 

 Counsel for Constable Sehl described the incident as "gallows humour": 

humour that is used to defuse stress in a distressing situation. He further stated 

that it was in no way intended to be disrespectful, but instead demonstrated 

Constable Sehl's distress over Mr. Bailey's death. During his evidence at the 

Inquiry, Constable Sehl stated that he was unaware that the conversation was 

being taped. He explained his use of language in the conversation. He also offered 

a very emotional apology to the Bailey family for his part in the conversation. 
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Conclusions 
 

 

1) Call Transfers 

 

 At the time of Mr. Bailey's death there was significant confusion regarding 

the ability to transfer calls between dispatch, the lock-up and emergency services. 

The problem has since been remedied: all employees have been briefed on the 

proper procedure to transfer calls.  It is also now possible for custodians to have 

direct communication with the ambulance dispatcher in Bedford.   

 

2)   Information Taking 

 

 In her attempt to assist Mr. Bailey, Ms. McNeil neglected to follow both the 

non-emergency call procedure (transfer to pre-recorded message), and the 

procedure for verifying information (name spelling). By accepting Mr. Bailey's 

non-emergency call, she caused him to believe she would be assisting him. She 

should therefore have followed proper procedure and asked him to spell his name 

or asked to speak to someone else who could speak more clearly.  In retrospect it 

may very well have been more effective to have the call re-routed through the 

non-emergency system. 

 

 In the end, Mr. Bailey was picked up by the police after his cousin Bernard 

MacIntyre called the non-emergency line. The only significant difference between 

Mr. Bailey's call and Bernard MacIntyre's call was that Mr. Bailey said he would 

rather go to "detox".  Whether or not Ms. McNeil would have reported this to a 

police officer had one responded to her correct inquiry about "Bailey" is purely 

speculative. Had she ended the call and directed Mr. Bailey to the non-emergency 

line, Mr. Bailey might have made the request to go to "detox" to a dispatcher who 

might have passed the request on to the police.  

 

3)   Recorded Conversation 

 

 The Concise Oxford Dictionary defines gallows humour as "grim and 

ironical" (9th ed.). Although it may be unfamiliar to members of the public, 

evidence was given by other emergency personnel and police officers that it is 

sometimes used to relieve the stress of a difficult or traumatic situation. 
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 The description of what was regarded on the dispatch tape as "laughter 

and joking" is inaccurate. Rather it was more of a "grim and ironical" conversation 

with a little nervous chuckling. That is not to say that the conversation is 

excusable, or that both Judy McNeil and Constable Sehl should have been using 

dispatch lines for their conversation. Regardless of their intent, the fact that the 

call was recorded and came to light has caused the Bailey family further 

unnecessary grief.  Both Judy McNeil and Constable Sehl were sincere in their 

apologies to the Bailey family. They both confirmed that they would be receiving 

sensitivity training. 

 

 



 
            Page  56 

<<<  The Role of the Communications Centre  >>>   
  

 
Findings: 
 

The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. The problems with the call system within the CBRPS and between the 

CBRPS dispatch and ambulance dispatch in Bedford, NS, have been 

addressed. 

 

2. The CBRPS dispatcher, Judy MacNeil, did not follow proper procedure 

in accepting Mr. Bailey's non-emergency call. 

 

3. Having accepted Mr. Bailey's call, Ms. MacNeil failed to follow proper 

procedure  by obtaining the proper spelling of his name. 

 

4. Ms. MacNeil's actions likely had very little impact on the eventual 

outcome. 

 

5. The conversation between Ms. MacNeil and Constable Sehl was an 

inappropriate conversation to have taken place over the dispatch 

system. 

 

6. The conversation between Ms. MacNeil and Constable Sehl was not a 

reflection of their feelings regarding Mr. Bailey's demise, but was in 

fact, "gallows humour". 

 

7. Ms. MacNeil and Constable Sehl were genuine in their regret over 

causing the Bailey family further unnecessary grief by their 

conversation. 
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Recommendation: 
 
 The Board of Inquiry finds that at the time of the conclusion of the Inquiry, 

all necessary steps had been taken to address these issues.   
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E. The Investigation of the Cell Death by the Cape Breton 
 Regional Police Service 
 
 

 A concern raised prior to this Inquiry was whether or not it was appropriate 

for the Cape Breton Regional Police Service to investigate itself on the matter, or 

if an outside agency should have been asked to do the investigation from the 

beginning.  During the Inquiry, Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) from the 

Justice Department of Nova Scotia and the CBRPS, and the procedure followed 

during the investigation itself, were reviewed.  The impact of the Bailey family's 

conduct immediately following James Bailey's death, and during the investigations 

and the Inquiry, could not be ignored and so was also examined. 

 

 Sergeant  Neil MacKenzie, Constable Walter Rutherford and Constable Ken 

O'Neil of the Major Crime Unit were in charge of the investigation that was 

commenced in accordance with SOP,  Part II,  Chapter 3,  Standard 23.2.E which 

states: 

 

An immediate investigation will be conducted when it appears that: 

 

1. There are reasonable grounds to suspect that the subject died by 

violence, undue means or culpable negligence; or 

 

2. The subject died in a place or under circumstances warranting an 

inquiry; or 

 

3. The cause of death is undetermined; or 

 

4. The subject died in prison or in police custody. 

 

 Accordingly, an investigation by the police department where the death 

occurred is mandatory.   

 

 The CBRPS maintains that the senior management of the relevant police 

department should determine whether or not the initial investigation should be 

carried out by its own department.  In this case, the CBRPS maintains that it 

correctly determined that the death was not a homicide, and that no other 

investigator could have found otherwise. 
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 The role of the CBRPS senior management throughout the investigation 

was unclear. Chief Edgar MacLeod maintained that he did not involve himself 

because he would have to remain neutral in case issues of discipline arose. 

 

 Associate Chief Wilson stated that he was satisfied with the investigation.  

He gave evidence that there was a great deal of pressure on members of the 

Police Service because they were being accused of murder.  He knew as soon as 

he viewed the tapes that there was no criminal behaviour in the jail cell and yet 

he maintained that the family could not view the tapes.  He remarked that people 

should accept what the police say and that the Bailey family should have been 

content with his verbal report as to what the tapes showed.  Associate Chief 

Wilson stated further that because a public complaint to the Nova Scotia Police 

Commission ("NSPC" or "Commission") was made, the CBRPS only investigated 

the criminal aspects of the file and made no comment on any other issues. 

 

 Sergeant MacKenzie, Constable Rudderham and Constable O'Neil of the 

Major Crime Unit carried out the investigation.  The evidence reviewed described 

them as very competent investigators with years of experience.  Once they 

completed their investigation they reported to the Crown Prosecutor's Office.  The 

videotapes were included as evidence in the report.  Shortly thereafter, the 

Minister of Justice directed that the investigation be handed over to the Ontario 

Provincial Police (OPP).  The forwarded file did not contain the investigative 

synopsis normally done when a file is closed. 

 

 Chief MacLeod confirmed that there normally would have been an internal 

briefing with a view to examining why the cell death occurred, and what could 

have been done to prevent it.  He said that this did not happen in the Bailey case 

because the materials were sent to the Crown, the OPP began their investigation, 

and then the Inquiry was called.  He confirmed that, notwithstanding these 

subsequent investigations, an investigative synopsis should have been done and 

given to the crown prosecutor with the file. 

 

 Paula and Kevin Bailey left Ottawa immediately upon learning of James 

Bailey's death.  They drove from Ottawa to Sydney and during the trip Paula 

learned from the MacIntyre's that James Bailey had been arrested under the 

Liquor Control Act.  Paula Bailey's immediate reaction was to suspect a police 

cover-up because she believed her brother was addicted to pills, not alcohol.  

Without further inquiry, she called the media from her vehicle to report her 

suspicion.   
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 Paula Bailey alleged that she was not allowed to see the body until after 

the autopsy because the police were covering up the evidence of brutality. 

Members of the Bailey family took every bit of information and spun it to fit a 

conclusion of police wrongdoing.  The accusations continued on almost a daily 

basis and the Bailey family ensured that every detail was played out in the media.   

 

 The family relied heavily on information provided by Earnest MacGillivary 

who became involved because he was a prisoner in the lock-up on the night  

Mr. Bailey died.  He gave three sworn statements:  one to legal counsel for Paula 

Bailey on May 26, 2000, one for the Cape Breton Regional Police Service on May 

31, 2000 and one for the Ontario Provincial Police on September 7, 2000.  Earnest 

MacGillivary was also interviewed by the investigator for the Inquiry and gave 

evidence at the Inquiry. 

 

 Earnest MacGillivary was taken to the lock-up at approximately 00:30h.  

On May 17, 2000, he had consumed approximately one pint of rum over the 

previous 4-5 hours.  He believed that there were only three cells at the lock-up, 

and that he and one other person were the only prisoners.  The other prisoner 

was making a commotion, asking to "see someone" and was banging on the bars.  

Earnest MacGillivary recognized Sergeant O'Rourke's voice when he spoke to the 

other prisoner.  At one point Sergeant O'Rourke stated, "What would your father 

think?"  Based on that question he concluded that the prisoner was known to 

Sergeant O'Rourke and was probably a young offender.   

 

 Following James Bailey's death, Earnest MacGillivery was in contact with 

Paula Bailey and agreed to give a statement to her lawyer, Blaise MacDonald.  

Throughout that statement he refers to the other prisoner as "the young fellow."  

Blaise MacDonald, in his questions to Earnest MacGillivery during the giving of his 

statement, refers to that person as James Bailey.  Nevertheless MacGillivery made 

it quite clear that he did not see the other prisoner or that he recognized that 

person's voice.  Blaise MacDonald pressed Earnest MacGillivery asking whether 

Sergeant O'Rourke used the word "Butch" when referring to the young fellow's 

father (Butch was James Bailey's father's name).  Earnest MacGillivery repeatedly 

denied this.   

 

 In his statement to the OPP Earnest MacGillivery stated, "I surmised it was 

the young fellow because I didn't think there was anybody else there other than 

me and one other person."  He also heard the jailer and others when James Bailey 

was discovered lifeless in this cell.  When Earnest MacGillivery heard the news 
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reports about the death the next day, he became concerned that James Bailey 

and the young fellow may have been the same person.  Earnest MacGillivery was 

mistaken in making that connection.  There are eleven cells in the lock-up, not 

three, and there were several prisoners incarcerated that night.  The commotion 

was coming from Cell #11 where the young offender was acting up. 
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Conclusion 
 

This investigation concerns a death in cells.  It could not be completed 

without the public having at least an apprehension of bias precisely because 

members of the CBRPS were directly involved.  The death of a person while in the 

care of a police force necessarily involves members of that force and its 

employees as witnesses.   

 

The finding or not finding of wrongdoing may be the goal of an 

investigation, however, it is immaterial to the process itself and how the process 

is viewed.  It is the process as viewed by the public that determines whether or 

not the public will have faith in the findings.  This Inquiry is concerned with the 

public's ability to have that faith. 

 

 Associate Chief Wilson's position on the non-release of the video tapes 

shows the difficulty any police force will have when it investigates and deals with 

the public on a matter that involves itself directly.  Even when the police make the 

right decision in cases that involve alleged wrong-doing by members, and 

notwithstanding that they are perfectly capable of properly investigating 

themselves, they are not always trusted.  People will not trust findings of this kind 

of investigation unless the process is transparent – and appears to be 

transparent.  Holding onto video tapes that exonerated the CBRPS of any violence 

toward Mr. Bailey well after it was determined that criminal charges would not be 

laid worked against the appearance of a transparent process and the building of 

public trust in that process.   

 

 The CBRPS quickly determined that James Bailey's death was not the 

result of foul play and that there was no criminal behaviour.  It was after that 

determination that the investigation seemed to become unfocused.  Issues 

regarding employees and their duties were not considered and the whole issue of 

whether or not the policies and procedures were followed did not form part of the 

self-examination that should have taken place as part of the investigation.   

 

 The CBRPS should not rely on a public complaint to trigger its own internal 

investigation.  Nor should the oversight system be used as a shield to prevent a 

proactive approach to resolving issues arising from the service's interaction with 

members of the public. 
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Findings: 
 

The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. The Cape Breton Regional Police Service was under a positive duty to 

investigate itself on the matter of the death of James Guy Bailey, Jr., 

while he was in police custody.   

 

2. The impact of the Bailey family's accusations of murder cannot be 

ignored when examining the conduct of the Cape Breton Regional 

Police Service investigation.  The accusations clearly contributed to the 

Cape Breton Regional Police Service's defensive stance and caused 

them to "close ranks". 

 

3. The Cape Breton Regional Police Service correctly forwarded the file 

and the evidence (including the video tapes) to the Public Prosecutor's 

Office.   

 

4. Earnest MacGillivery was truthful throughout his statements and at the 

Inquiry.  As he was not advised otherwise, he continued in his belief 

that James Bailey and the young offender were the same person. 

 

5. The media and the Bailey family unfairly characterized Earnest 

MacGillivery as being untruthful. 
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Recommendation: 
 

 

1. The province should examine the feasibility of instituting a "critical 

incident team", made up of officers from various departments and 

detachments, to provide assistance with investigating difficult or 

sensitive cases. 

 

2. In the event that the province declines to proceed with 

recommendation number 1, it should consider directing police 

departments to involve an outside force with the investigation when a 

prisoner dies while in that police department’s custody. 
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F. The Public Complaint Filed with the Nova Scotia Police 
 Commission 
 

 The Police Act requires that when a public complaint is filed (by way of a 

Form 5), the initial investigation is conducted by the police department involved.  

When the investigation is completed, the chief of that department makes a 

decision regarding discipline and forwards his or her determination to the Nova 

Scotia Police Commission.  If a complainant is not satisfied, he or she can request 

that the matter be investigated by the Commission.  The Commission's 

investigator then determines whether or not the matter goes to a hearing before 

the Nova Scotia Police Review Board.  If the Commission's investigator refuses to 

forward a complaint to the Police Review Board, the complainant may appeal the 

investigator's decision to the Nova Scotia Police Commission for an order referring 

the complaint to the Nova Scotia Police Review Board. 

 

 Following James Bailey's death, his family filed a public complaint with the 

Nova Scotia Police Commission.  The complaint was filed on May 24, 2000 and 

was signed by his mother, Lillian Bailey and sister, Paula Bailey.  It specifically 

named officers Max Sehl and John O'Rourke, and "other unknown officers 

involved". 

 

 Although the Form 5 did not contain a specific complaint, per se, it 

contained concerns that covered a number of different areas that can be 

summarized as follows: 

 

1. The Bailey family believed that James Bailey had called 911 and did 

not get a response.  They believed that James Bailey's cousin, Bernard 

MacIntyre, called the police dispatch stating that James was not drunk 

but was “on something” and that he was afraid for James’ safety.  

They believed Bernard MacIntyre left his phone number so that if the 

police could not get James Bailey to a hospital, the police would call 

Bernard MacIntyre back and he would. 

 

2. The family thought that a family member should have identified James 

Bailey's body.  They also could not understand why they could not view 

his body until after the autopsy. 
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3. They were concerned that a witness had come forward and said that 

James Bailey had been crying out for help when he was in the cell and 

that he was ignored.  

 

4. They believed that James Bailey would be alive if he had been taken 

for medical attention. 

 

5. The family had a series of questions they wanted answered: 

 

a. What were the pills James Bailey had, and what was in the 

toxicology report? 

b. Why didn't the 911 operator call back, and why didn't the police 

return Bernard MacInytre's call? 

c. Why was James Bailey arrested when he had called for help? 

d. Why were members of the CBRPS investigating their own 

officers? 

e. Finally, why was the family not allowed to view the video tapes 

from cell #4 where James Bailey had died? 

 

The Form 5 complaint to the Police Commission contained a paragraph which 

the family believed to be the facts leading up to Mr. Bailey’s arrest.  The following 

is a summary of that paragraph: 

 

 James Guy Bailey Jr. was arrested on May 16, 2000.  He is 

the one who phoned 911 with no response from 911.  Shortly 

after the call to 911 Bernie MacIntyre (cousin of James 

Bailey) called dispatch of Regional Police at 794-5151.  He 

explained in full detail that James needs help, told dispatch 

that James was on something but didn't know what.  He told 

dispatch that James "was not" drunk but was afraid for 

James Bailey's safety and that he might be hit by a car.  

Bernie left his name, phone number, and address in case 

police couldn't get James Bailey to the hospital; to call him 

back so Bernie would take care of him, and that "no" phone 

call was returned. 

 

 The family and others believed that James Bailey would have survived if he 

had been taken to the hospital.  They wanted to believe that they themselves had 

made the request for the police to take him there.  They believed that the police 
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should have taken him to the hospital because family members had warned that 

Bailey was high on something and that he had not been drinking.  They went so 

far as to suggest that if the police couldn't take him to the hospital, the dispatcher 

should call back so that Bernie MacIntyre could take care of him. 

 

The complaint indicated that the body should have been identified by a 

family member and not by a police officer.  The complaint also suggested that the 

family might have been refused access to the body even after the autopsy except 

that the family threatened to take the issue to the media.   

 

Viewing the body following an autopsy was distressing for the Bailey 

family, as it would have been for any family.  At the Inquiry, Paula Bailey and 

Kevin Bailey complained that they had been expelled from the hospital room by 

Sergeant Dave Morrison.  However, evidence by another police officer and a 

nurse, Darlena Copek, contradicted this.  Kevin Bailey believed the bruising that 

he saw on James Bailey's hands indicated that someone had beaten him up and 

Paula Bailey believed that she tasted makeup that was used to hide evidence of 

assault.    

 

 The initial investigation of the complaint was conducted by Inspector Jack 

Banfield.  He followed the procedures as set out in the Police Act and filed his 

conclusions with Chief Edgar MacLeod on October 5, 2000  (Appendix A147-

151).  Chief MacLeod filed his disposition on November 16, 2000.  He concluded 

that there was "insufficient evidence to support disciplinary default," but did not 

supply any reasons.  The Bailey family initiated a review of Chief MacLeod's 

findings by the Commission.   

 

 The Police Act provides for the informal resolution of complaints.  However, 

given the high level of mistrust in this situation it is not surprising that an informal 

resolution was not attempted. 

 

 It should be noted that, other than the failed meeting following the Bailey 

family's viewing of James Bailey's body, the CBRPS did not attempt to address the 

issues raised by the Bailey family in the complaint in an informal setting.  This 

was due in large measure to the matter having been referred to the OPP in mid-

July 2000 and to the Inquiry having been called following the completion of the 

OPP's report. 
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 Inspector Banfield gave evidence at the Inquiry and his investigation notes 

and report were submitted as evidence.  He addressed the questions posed by the 

Bailey family in their original complaint and noted that, after he viewed the video 

tapes, it was obvious that the Bailey family had been "provided with a lot of 

misinformation". 

 

 When questioned at the Inquiry, Inspector Banfield stated that it never 

occurred to him to sit down with the family to answer their questions.  

Furthermore, he did not know under what authority he could give copies of the 

videos or any other information to them. 
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Conclusions 
 

 In order to have effective informal resolution there has to be a mechanism 

to provide all parties with the same information.  The Police Act requires that along 

with the findings of the Chief of Police, reasons for the findings be given.  Chief 

Edgar MacLeod's mere statement that there was "insufficient evidence" does not 

constitute sufficient "reasons" within the spirit of the legislation. 

 

 Mr. Bailey was identified at the time of his arrest and he was properly 

identified at the hospital after he was pronounced dead.  This was confirmed by 

Constable Mike Rolfe.  If there had been any question or doubt, then a family 

member would have been called.  But identification was not the real issue 

troubling the family.  Rather it was the desire to see the body to satisfy 

themselves that it was, in fact, James Guy Bailey, Jr.   

 

 The Bailey family was not allowed to view the body until after the autopsy 

was completed.  While this makes sense in order to preserve the evidence, 

particularly before an autopsy documents the cause of death, this autopsy took 

some time to arrange (more than 36 hours).  There should have been some 

mechanism for the family to see the body without causing evidentiary problems.  

Such alternatives can include viewing behind glass or via CCTV. 

 

Inspector Banfield's report was detailed.  It would have provided the public 

with sufficient "reasons" for the Chief's finding and answer many of the Bailey 

family's questions.  Unfortunately, that report was not made public until the 

Inquiry was called and the documents gathered by the Inquiry's investigator were 

released.  The video tapes of the lock-up area and cell # 4 were released at the 

same time (Fall, 2001). 

 

 Some members of the Bailey family, including Paula Bailey, were prone to 

exaggeration and hysterics.  One only needs to review the media clippings to 

conclude they immediately jumped to their inflammatory conclusions with little or 

no investigation.  Their distrust of the police led them to believe that what they 

saw indicated that James Bailey had been physically abused by the police, though 

there was absolutely no truth and no basis to these allegations.  In this case, 

although the family was unhappy, Sergeant Dave Morrison and Constable Ken 

O'Neil conducted themselves appropriately. 
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The police must be prepared to deal effectively with all members of the public 

regardless of their personalities and with a degree of sensitivity to emotional and 

physical difficulties.  Members of the public should not have to wait until the 

complaint reaches the Commission's investigative stage before they are made aware 

of the circumstances and evidence uncovered by a police department's initial 

investigation.   

 

It is important for police departments to investigate complaints against them 

if for no other reason than that they must be aware of any possible disciplinary 

defaults.  However, if police departments maintain that they should continue to be 

responsible for the initial investigation of public complaints, they must be completely 

transparent in their process, and the complainant must be kept informed and 

involved throughout the investigation.  Furthermore, the Police Act in its current 

form, requires reasons to be given when there is a finding that there is no 

disciplinary default and also provides for alternate dispute resolution.  Police 

departments must live up to the spirit of that legislation.  There must be an honest 

attempt at resolving the complaint, and the reasons provided must be detailed.  In 

the Bailey case, there would have been no harm in releasing Inspector Banfield's 

report, and certainly no harm in allowing a representative of the family to view the 

tapes at the same time. 
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Findings 
 

 The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. The police acted appropriately and were quick to cooperate with 

viewing the body when the autopsy was completed.  They acted 

appropriately throughout the viewing and afterwards at the meeting 

with the Bailey family. 

 

2. The Form 5 asked a number of questions which were thoroughly 

canvassed during the investigations into the complaint and at the 

Inquiry.  The Commission finds that those questions have been 

answered. 

 

3. As a result of the Inquiry the public complaint has been fully reviewed.  

The Board of Inquiry has the same authority as the Police Review 

Board.  Therefore, the Report of this Inquiry shall be substituted for 

any possible findings that could have come from a Police Review Board 

hearing. 
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Recommendations: 
 

 

1. Where there is a finding of no disciplinary default, there must be detailed 

reasons given and those reasons are to be communicated to the 

complainant.   

 

2. Each police department in the province of Nova Scotia shall examine their 

procedures for alternate dispute resolution with a view to ensuring that, 

whenever possible, public complaints are informally resolved. 

 

3. When the investigation into a public complaint discloses evidence that 

would assist in resolving the complaint, that evidence is to be disclosed to 

the complainant at the earliest possible opportunity. 

 

4. A means for viewing a body prior to a forensic autopsy (e.g.  glass 

partition, closed circuit television) should be established in any hospital 

where such autopsies are conducted. 

 

5. The disposition of the public complaint in the Bailey matter shall be in 

accordance with the Inquiry's Report without further investigation or 

hearing. 

 

6. Personal effects belonging to James Bailey and original family 

photographs shall be returned to the Bailey family.  The bottle of various 

pills should be delivered to a pharmacy for safe disposal.  
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G. The Emergency Department Policy Re:  Accepting Intoxicated 
 Persons 
 

 Police officers regularly encounter intoxicated persons.  How best to deal 

with or manage these people is an issue placed squarely before this Commission. 

 

 Shortly after the investigation into the death of James Bailey, an allegation 

was made by Inspector Jack Banfield of the CBRPS that:  

 

“As we are all aware, hospitals will not treat people in [an 

intoxicated] condition and, therefore, he was incarcerated.” 

 

 In his statement to Dennis Squires, Investigator for the Nova Scotia Police 

Commission, Inspector Banfield expanded his statement as follows:  

 

“It has been my experience that hospitals will not accept persons 

who are intoxicated, or require psychiatric help, until they are sober.  

Therefore, the prisoner is kept in our cells until that time.  This is as 

it relates only to those persons who may have a mental condition.” 

 

 Because of this allegation, several health care workers (hospital and 

Emergency Health Service personnel) and police officers were interviewed.  In 

addition to reviewing various statements given to the CBRPS and the OPP, as well 

as evidence given during the Inquiry, the relevant hospital policy and procedure 

manuals were canvassed. 

 

 Under cross-examination by counsel for the Commission, Inspector Banfield 

clarified his remarks made to Investigator Squires.  He stated that he had met with 

a hospital psychiatrist who had explained that a psychiatric evaluation could not be 

carried out on patients under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

 

 Other witnesses expressed some hesitance about a hospital’s willingness to 

accept intoxicated patients.  Sergeant John Stewart declined to get into specifics.  

He stated that, because he could not back up his recollections with facts, it would 

be unfair to the medical professionals to make general comments.   

 

 Carmel Butler was asked by her counsel if she noticed any problems at the 

Grand Lake Road lock-up that she thought were sufficiently serious to bring to the 

attention of management.  Ms. Butler stated: 
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“I was very concerned with people being brought to the lock-up, 

sent by doctors, sent by hospitals to lock-up when I – in my mind I 

thought they should be in a comfortable surrounding with medical 

treatment available to them. I expressed that [concern] to many 

officers I worked with, to every sergeant I worked with, even to the 

Associate Chief [Dave Wilson] when he came through the lock-up. 

He informed me that hospitals wouldn't keep them.” 

 

 It is relevant to note that one witness was called to describe an incident that 

took place at the Glace Bay Hospital in 2002.  Shelley Boutilier, RN, stated that on 

the evening of March 4, 2002, she was working in the emergency department.  

According to hospital records, during the afternoon an adult male presented to the 

emergency department for treatment of pain secondary to a several week old 

fractured arm.  The doctor noted that he smelled of alcohol "and other smells." 

Within 20 minutes he was assessed for triage as level IV:  non-urgent and stable.  

The doctor saw him four hours later; 30 minutes after that he was given a narcotic 

analgesic by injection and discharged.  Less than two hours later he returned to the 

Glace Bay Emergency Department in a wheelchair, accompanied by Constable Mark 

Myler and Constable Shaun MacLean.  He had been found in a park unresponsive to 

verbal cues.  A mouthwash bottle that was one quarter full was found nearby.  

   

 Shelley Boutilier testified that initially the doctor told the police to take the 

person to lock-up and that he would not see him.  Ms. Boutilier reminded the doctor 

that he had seen him "one hour" earlier, and that he should examine him again.  The 

doctor placed the man under observation and he was treated accordingly without 

further incident.  He was admitted to the Detox Centre the next day.  It is not clear 

from the evidence how much time passed between his discharge from the 

emergency department and his admission to the Detox Centre.   

 

 The Cape Breton Health Care Complex (CBHCC) policy, "Patient Assessment 

in Emergency Room" and other relevant documents of the day specifically state that 

all persons presenting to the Emergency Department are to be triaged and examined 

by a physician before being discharged.  The CBHCC also has a specific nursing 

policy on the handling of intoxicated patients.  The policies appear to be adequately 

precise in their direction on these matters. 
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 Three EHS employees, from P-1 to P-3 (2) gave evidence that they 

frequently respond to calls to transport intoxicated patients.  They included trips to 

the Grand Lake Road facility and to other lock-up facilities prior to the opening of 

the Grand Lake Road facility.  In their 22 plus years of combined experience, they 

had never witnessed the emergency department refuse to accept any patient, 

regardless of condition. 

 

 All other relevant witnesses were consistent in their evidence:  patients are 

never turned away from the emergency department.  If a patient becomes 

untreatable because of that patient's conduct (e.g., violence), a Commissionaire 

and/or the police are called for assistance.  If appropriate (i.e., the condition of the 

patient permits), the offending patient may be removed to the lock-up until they 

are in such a state as to be able to cooperate with the hospital staff. 

 

 In fact, Mr. Bailey himself had been removed from the North Sydney 

General Hospital (NSGH) for such behaviour.  Constable Mel Birmingham described 

an incident on May 29, 1998, when Lillian Bailey called for assistance in removing  

Mr. Bailey from her home.  Mr. Bailey was agitated, uncooperative and would not 

enter an ambulance waiting to take him to the NSGH.  Constable Birmingham 

placed him in his police vehicle and was able to calm him down by agreeing to take 

him to the hospital himself.  He left Mr. Bailey in the NSGH emergency department 

but was called back almost immediately by the NSGH because Mr. Bailey had 

become unruly and untreatable by the health staff.  He arrested Mr. Bailey and 

took him to the central lock-up.  It was his experience that this was the only 

situation when hospitals would not accept an intoxicated prisoner; the police 

service has a very good rapport with the hospitals. 

 

 

_______________________________________________ 

(2)   These are paramedic designations.  A P-3 is the most senior and medically independent paramedics. 
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Conclusions: 
 

 A few employees of the municipality held the idea that hospitals in the Cape 

Breton area would not accept intoxicated patients.  However, as a general truism, it 

was not supported by the evidence.  Moreover, the arresting officer (Constable Max 

Sehl) held no such belief at the time he detained James Bailey, nor did any of the 

other officers directly involved with James Bailey on May 16-17, 2000. 

 

 The existence of such urban myths surrounding the acceptance of intoxicated 

detainees at the Emergency Department to any degree must be addressed directly 

to avoid any future possibility of harm to members of the public.  Whether or not Ms. 

Butler's evidence regarding this misinformation is credible, and notwithstanding that 

the incident at Glace Bay Hospital was a minor event that led to no harm, the fact 

that it occurred almost two years after James Bailey's death together with the fact 

that Ms. Butler made the statement at the time of the Inquiry demonstrates that this 

is very much a live issue that warrants attention. 

 

 Chief Edgar MacLeod testified that when a prisoner or detainee requires 

medical assistance, police officers are required to remain with that person until that 

person is medically cleared.  This requires that police officers remain out of service in 

hospitals for hours at a time, leaving their colleagues short-staffed.  He stated that 

the CBRPS could ill afford the human and financial resources this requires.  A 

suggested alternative was for the hospital to provide security personnel to remain 

with the prisoner.  At the CBHCC, this would involve Commissionaires who are not 

qualified for such duty.  Moreover, the Commissionaire would also be unavailable for 

other responsibilities.  Counsel for the Cape Breton District Health Authority 

suggested that the hospital could also not afford the human or financial resources 

required for such an arrangement. 

 

 The issue of who should be responsible for intoxicated detainees is complex, 

and requires allocation of human and financial resources.  It also requires 

consideration of other recommendations coming out of this Inquiry (e.g., 

recommendations regarding alternatives to arrest and detention). 
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Findings: 
 

 The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. The evidence does not support the allegation that CBRPS officers could 

not bring intoxicated detainees to the emergency department because 

the emergency department would not treat them. 

 

2. The question of who should be responsible for supervising intoxicated 

prisoners awaiting treatment in the emergency department requires the 

allocation of financial resources and personnel and is beyond the scope 

of this Inquiry.  More information is necessary in order to resolve the 

problem. 
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Recommendations: 
 

 

1. The role of hospitals and the relationship between hospitals and police 

departments should be clearly explained to cadets during basic training 

and reinforced during orientation and refresher programs. 

 

2. Municipal police departments must develop standard operating procedures 

regarding the arrest and/or detention of intoxicated persons.  Such SOPs 

should: 

 

a. be developed following literature searches that include current 

research on the matter; 

b. be parallel in intent and language to existing federal and provincial 

SOPs and legislation; 

c. incorporate the recommendations of Dr. Barry McLellan (Appendix 

A113-115); and 

d. at a minimum, include the following: 

 

i. when assessing a detainee arrested for public intoxication for 

placement in cells, the presence of medication or prescription 

bottles - with or without pills - is an indication that a medical 

professional must first assess the detainee before the detainee 

is placed in the lock-up. 

 

ii. police officers and custodians are under a positive duty to 

report to the officer in charge of the lock-up any concerns they 

have regarding the health and welfare of any detainee and the 

presence of any prescription bottles whether empty or not. 

 

e. during police department orientation sessions, non-officer 

employees (e.g., custodians, dispatch) and new police members 

(including experienced officers transferring from other police 

departments) should be introduced to the emergency departments 

of the local hospital(s). 
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3. Responsibility for intoxicated detainees at the emergency department, 

the province and Department of Health should form an ad hoc 

committee to study the problem in its entirety with a view to resolving 

the matter in a fiscally responsible manner for both police and health 

departments.  The committee should: 

 

a. as soon as practicable implement a formal policy regarding 

the triage of patients brought in from the lock-up, and/or by 

police officers.  The policy should give formal priority to 

these patients over other patients of equal triage designation 

in order to hasten the return to active duty of officers 

accompanying such patients. 

 

b. investigate the use of "Medical Officers" or "Police Surgeons"  

employed in the U.K. and elsewhere to determine if that is 

an appropriate model for municipal lock-ups; and  

 

c. investigate the possible use of registered nurses, VON and 

nurse practitioners in municipal lock-ups along the same 

lines as they are employed at provincial lock-ups. 
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H. The Role of the Detoxification Centre and the Involvement 
of the Mental Health Unit  

 
 During the Inquiry, the issue of whether or not policy and procedure were 

followed in handling James Bailey's calls to the Detox Centre was raised.  

Examination of the resources available to the facility is a logical next step.  As a 

corollary of this, the Mental Health Unit as an adjunct resource was briefly examined, 

as was the financial support provided to Mr. Bailey by Community Services. 

 

The Detox Centre is housed in the basement of the CBHCC, but is operated 

independently from the hospital by Addiction Services of Nova Scotia (ASNS).  It 

provides clients with programs for getting off drugs and alcohol permanently.  ASNS 

is not a "wet" shelter in that clients must be sober in order to be admitted and 

participate.  Long-term detoxification is the goal; short-term substance withdrawal 

("sobering up" or "getting straight") is not managed through this facility. 

 

The Detox Centre is classed as a sub-acute facility, i.e., there are no facilities 

for taking blood, doing x-rays or other diagnostic testing, and there are no medical 

doctors in the unit.  A three-day initial inpatient program is run from this facility.  At 

the time of the Inquiry, a 21-day residential program was being run elsewhere, and 

an outpatient program was being run in downtown Sydney.  

 

 James Bailey called the Detox Centre and asked for a bed.  In a brief 

conversation he was told there were no beds available and was advised to go to the 

emergency department for assessment.  A follow-up call to Mr. Bailey was not made.

  

 

 Wayne Aucoin is 57 years old and works full-time at the Detox Centre.  His 

responsibilities include admitting clients to the Centre (information gathering and 

addiction history), managing clients' care (e.g., hygiene and meals), and 

communication.  Although he is a licensed practical nurse (LPN), that expertise is not 

a prerequisite for the job.  He has completed a pharmacology course but does not 

dispense medications.   

 

 Wayne Aucoin was assigned to telephone duty on the evening of May 16, 

2000.  At approximately 20:00h he received a call from Mr. Bailey who asked to be 

admitted to the unit.  He initially stated the call was 2-3 minutes, then 2 minutes, 

and then 1 ½ minutes.  During the call, Wayne Aucoin solicited from Mr. Bailey his 

name and what substance he was abusing.  Wayne Aucoin knew Mr. Bailey; his 
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reference was the Rolodex on the phone desk and his previous experiences with 

him at the centre.  The Rolodex listed a brief history of Mr. Bailey including 

substances abused in the past.  It was not the practice of the unit to note any 

previous suicide attempts or associtiated ideation, nor any history of depression.   

 

 Mr. Bailey hung up the phone after Wayne Aucoin said he would call him 

when a bed was available.  He had directed him to go to the emergency 

department for a medical assessment.  At first, Wayne Aucoin stated that "he just 

hung up...click and he was gone" which implies that Mr. Bailey terminated the call 

peremptorily.  At the Inquiry Wayne Aucoin insisted that the call ended in a normal 

manner. 

 

 Wayne Aucoin formed the opinion that Mr. Bailey was not medically fit for 

the Detox Centre based on the following: 

 

• slurred speech; 

• "fading", that is it sounded as if the phone was moving away from Mr. 

Bailey's mouth, although he concluded that his voice was just getting 

lower; 

• he had advised Wayne Aucoin that he had taken lectopams, Fiorinal and 

alcohol. 

 

 Wayne Aucoin further concluded that Mr. Bailey was "incapacitated", a term 

commonly used in the Detox Centre to mean "inebriated" and that he needed 

emergency care.  At the same time he concluded that the call was not a crisis call 

because Mr. Bailey did not expressly threaten to harm himself or others.  He later 

amended this to "cause life-threatening harm" to himself or others.  Consequently, 

he did not do any follow-up.  He did not call Mr. Bailey back, nor did he call 911 or 

the CBRPS to request assistance.  Because he could hear voices in the background, 

he concluded that Mr. Bailey was not alone and could make his way to the 

emergency department.  Based on his past experience with him (Mr. Bailey had 

been in the centre on nine other occassions), he was confident Mr. Bailey could 

and would follow directions to go to the emergency department.  He did not notify 

his supervisor, Leona Hickey, RN, of Mr. Bailey’s call until later that evening. 

 

 According to his performance reviews (1999 – 2002), Wayne Aucoin is a 

competent employee.  In 1999, his supervisor wrote that he had "excellent 

assessment skills, completes paperwork efficiently and makes appropriate 

referrals...reacts well in crisis situations and applies policy and procedure 
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guidelines." In 2000, he "continues to meet or exceed all criteria set forth in the 

Counselor III Job Description."  The same was said in Mr. Aucoin’s 2002 performance 

reviews. 

 

 Everett Harris has been the Director of Addiction Services for the Cape Breton 

District Health Authority since 1999.  He has a Masters degree in Social Work, a 

diploma in Public Management, and has attended continuing education in the form of 

conferences.  Previous to assuming responsibility for Addiction Services, he was the 

Detox Centre Manager for nine or 10 years.  He worked for 30 years in the Sydney 

Addiction program.  In 1970 he was a Board Member of Addiction Services where he 

oversaw the addiction program in its formative years and worked as a social worker 

elsewhere at the same time.  He was also a Board Member for Addiction Services 

Canada.  He retired as a Board Member 13 or 14 years ago in order to assume his 

current position.   

 

 Everett Harris described the Detox Centre in more detail.  He explained that it 

is a primary care unit because it handles more than withdrawal management.  Its 

inpatient capacity is 20.  There is one other similar facility which is part of the Strait 

Richmond Site; it has 12 beds.   

 

 The staff at the Detox Centre is comprised of registered nurses (RNs) and 

counselor attendants (CAs).  Fulltime and casual staff (from other areas) may be 

used at times.  An RN is in charge of each 12 hour day and night shift.  There is an 

RN and a CA on each shift and they both share the phone responsibilities.  Although 

the current RN does not have specific training in addiction nursing, she does have "a 

lot of experience".  The RNs are qualified for "shared competencies" which are 

similar to that of ICU nurses wherein standard routine matters (e.g., medication for 

withdrawal management) are handled by the RN without physician supervision.  

Shared competencies are determined by an agreement between the Nova Scotia 

College of Physicians & Surgeons and the College of Registered Nurses of Nova 

Scotia. 

 

 Everett Harris has known Wayne Aucoin since he was employed with 

Addiction Services.  As a counselor attendant, Mr. Aucoin has direct contact with 

patients and potential patients.  Employees are trained to handle crisis calls through 

in-services, ongoing supervision and experience.  They are now receiving specific 

suicide intervention training. 
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 Everett Harris reviewed the incident involving Mr. Bailey and concluded 

that Wayne Aucoin had acted appropriately and in accordance with Addiction 

Services' policies and procedures.  However, during the Inquiry he acknowledged 

that Wayne Aucoin's lack of a follow-up telephone call was not consistent with 

past practice.   
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Conclusions: 
 

 During the investigation into James Bailey's death inferences were raised that 

his call was mishandled, that the Detox Centre did not have adequate resources for 

the demand, or both.  It further became apparent that, notwithstanding the fact that 

the emergency department, Detox Centre and Mental Health Unit (MHU) see a 

significant overlap in clients, there is little or no coordination of services.  This 

circumstance leaves clients to fall through the cracks or to experience delayed, 

disjointed, or inconsistent delivery of service.  

 

Wayne Aucoin stated more than once that he was familiar with James Bailey 

and he felt Mr. Bailey would follow instructions and present himself to the emergency 

department.  Everett Harris acknowledged that the procedure followed that evening 

was not consistent with past practices.  Not only was it not consistent with past 

practice but after nine admissions the staff members at the Detox Centre were all 

familiar with James Bailey.  They knew of his history of suicidal ideation and they 

knew of his past admissions to the MHU.  In light of the foregoing, a follow up call 

should have been made.  However, it is speculation to say a follow-up call would 

have changed the course of Mr. Bailey's night. 

 

 There are conflicts within Wayne Aucoin's evidence.  While he insists that 

James Bailey was not medically fit to be in the Detox Centre, that he was, in fact, 

incapacitated and fading in and out of the conversation, he also insists that it was 

not a crisis call because Mr. Bailey did not expressly threaten to harm anyone or 

himself.  This is a question of training/re-training in the identification of crisis 

situations.   

 

 Given that the Detox Centre supervisors have given him consistent and 

glowing performance reviews, the problem may be in the teaching of the policies or 

within the policies themselves.  There are gaps in the policies that need filling.  For 

example, Policy 4-240 (clause 3) states that the charge nurse will document the 

client's suicidal ideation.  However, it does not indicate where it should be 

documented.  In any case, this had not been done with respect to Mr. Bailey.  

Wayne Aucoin indicated in his evidence that it would be helpful to have that 

information noted in the Rolodex for the benefit of all operators.  In addition, in 

Policy 2-60 (clause 3), what is meant by "clinical judgment" is unclear. 
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Notwithstanding Everett Harris' statements to the contrary, the current unit 

needs more resources.  At the date of the Inquiry, it had only 20 beds, and could 

not handle anything more than simple withdrawal management.  Moreover, the 

clients must be relatively sober or "straight" in order to be admitted. 

 

While canvassing the issue of whether or not the Detox Centre is 

adequately resourced, the question of "wet" shelters as a possible solution was 

raised.  A wet shelter, unlike a dry shelter such as the Detoxification Unit, would 

provide the intoxicated with basic needs and security.  With no "wet" shelters the 

hospitals and police are left to manage, expending resources that would be better 

used elsewhere.   

 

Finally, given the overlap in services and client-base, the discharge planning 

that is done when clients leave the Detox Centre, emergency department and 

Mental Health Unit is inadequate.  The community would be better served by these 

health services if they worked more closely together.  Any argument that this may 

contravene client confidentiality is not supportable.  The staff members in each of 

the departments are equally bound by confidentiality requirements of their 

employers and the law.  Regardless, any such concern is far outweighed by the 

existing gaps in care and services.   

 

 Each facility on its own is a rich resource for client information on life style, 

risk factors, baseline health issues, and crisis assessment.  The inability, or 

unwillingness, to share this information is a significant loss in the effectiveness of 

health care delivered to those in need.  Some method of interdisciplinary 

communication needs to be developed.  The simplest way would be for the units to 

have access to electronic files using user name and password protection.  Were the 

emergency department, MHU and Detox Centre employees able to pull up such 

information on clients they are dealing with in the moment, an appropriate client-

based course of action could be quickly formulated and implemented more 

smoothly.  In the matter before the Commission, Mr. Bailey's risk level may very 

well have been evident to those situated to provide assistance had such an 

integrated system been in place.  

 

Janet O’Connell who is employed by the Department of Community Services 

gave evidence at the Inquiry.  The Inquiry was told how Mr. Bailey was given a 

cheque in his name for $325.00.  James Bailey had completed a "Confirmation of 

Housing" form and told his income assistance worker that he was moving to 

Ontario to be with his sister.  Clearly, someone with his history should not have 
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been given the money.  Had an integrated system been in place that included 

Community Services, the income assistance worker would have had more 

comprehensive information to make a decision on whether to give Mr. Bailey ready 

access to cash.  Alternative means of providing financial support could have been 

considered, and the means to buy the drugs that ultimately killed James Bailey 

would not have come from a system that was trying to help him. 
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Findings 
 

The Board of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. The response of the Detox Centre to Mr. Bailey's call for assistance was 

not consistent with past practice.   

 

2. The Detox Centre requires better funding and more resources to handle 

the drug and alcohol problem in its service area. 

 

3. Everett Harris stated that rather than see more beds opened, money 

could be spent elsewhere. Wet shelters and integrated computer 

systems are only two examples of where money might be spent more 

effectively.  

 

4. The emergency department, Detox Centre and the Mental Health Unit 

should be providing integrated care and discharge planning. 
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Recommendations: 
 

 

1. Response to Mr. Bailey's telephone call. 

 

 The policies and procedures of the Detox Centre need to be revised to 

clarify language and intent including, but not limited to: 

 

a. Noting clients' histories of suicide attempts or ideation in such a place 

that it would immediately come to the attention of the person handling 

the phones (e.g., the Rolodex). 

 

b. Avoiding the use of vague terms such as "clinical judgment" and, 

instead, stipulating the use of criterion-based discretion.  For example, 

in assessing whether or not a situation is a crisis, reference to specific 

behaviours should be made (expressed threats, implied threats, 

substances abused, clarity of language and thought process, etc.). 

 

2. Resources for the Detox Centre. 

 

 Additional resources must be directed to the Detox Centre for the specific 

purpose of computerizing the database, adding additional beds and 

providing refresher and continuing education courses for its employees. 

 

3. Wet Shelters 

 

 A committee including, but not limited to, members from the 

Detoxification Centre, Mental Health Unit, Health Authorities and police 

departments should be struck forthwith to study the viability of "wet 

shelters" as an alternative to incarceration of intoxicated persons.   

 

4. Discharge Planning 

 

 A committee of members drawn from the Mental Health Unit, 

Detoxification Centre and the emergency department should be struck 

forthwith to determine the extent of, and the best approach to, 

information sharing, integrating care, and discharge planning.  The 

committee should also involve other related governmental and non-

governmental organizations (e.g., Social Services). 
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5. The provincial government should ensure that adequate resources are 

provided to the above committees to enable them to properly carry out 

their mandates. 
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I. The Cape Breton Regional Police Service Response to 
 Investigations and to the Inquiry 
 
 

 The Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) became involved in this matter on August 

15, 2000, when the Attorney General for the Province of Nova Scotia issued a 

Ministerial Order to the OPP to investigate.  They were directed to carry out: 

 

a thorough investigation into all matters related, either directly or 

indirectly, to the death of James Guy Bailey, and any involvement 

of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service or any of its employees 

with James Bailey or his family.  

 

 As a result of that investigation, the OPP made several recommendations that 

relate specifically to the operation of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service.  The 

recommendations are found in the Conclusions and Recommendations volume of the 

OPP Report.  The recommendations relevant to this report are documented in 

Appendix  A156-158. 

 

 Chief Edgar MacLeod and Associate Chief Wilson gave evidence at the 

Inquiry.   

 

At the time of James Bailey's death, Associate Chief David Wilson was in 

charge of the operational aspects of the police service, including the lock-up.  As a 

result of Mr. Bailey's death, the cell block has undergone a number of upgrades for 

which Associate Chief Wilson credits Inspector MacLean.  Associate Chief Wilson 

provided the Inquiry with a "cell block time line" that outlined the improvements 

made following James Bailey's death.  The improvements generally satisfied the OPP 

recommendations regarding the cell block and, in many areas, exceeded the 

recommendations.  The list of changes is reproduced at  Appendix A120-121.   

 

 Associate Chief Wilson also outlined additional changes, including the 

implementation of new Prisoner Contact Log Sheets that enables custodians to 

indicate whether a monitor check or a physical check was made on a prisoner.  There 

has also been an in-service for all custodians regarding the monitors. In addition, all 

CBRPS police officers now carry barrier protection on their belts.  Whether or not this 

change also includes the custodians is not known.   
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 The Operational Policy for the Care and Handling of Prisoners was revised 

and now contains the following provisions: 

 

2.8 Prisoners who are brought into custody in a state of apparent sleep 

or unconsciousness must be rousable before being placed in a cell.  

If the prisoner cannot be awoken, they shall be immediately 

assessed by a physician.  Note: See Appendix A116-118, Glasgow 

Coma Score to determine arousability. 

 

2.9 The following is recommended for prisoners who are in a state of 

apparent intoxication, who are able to be aroused (immediately prior 

to the time of incarceration): 

 

(a) If the prisoner is known to have a history of drug abuse or 

overdose, a medical history that may be associated with an 

altered level of consciousness (i.e. diabetes), or a history of 

significant head trauma, the prisoner shall be assessed by a 

physician prior to being placed in a cell. 

 

2.10 All prisoners who are presumed to be intoxicated shall be reassessed 

to ensure they are awake or arousable at least every thirty (30) 

minutes.  If the prisoner is awake or becomes progressively easier 

to arouse after three - thirty minute assessments, the assessments 

may be decreased to every sixty (60) minutes until the prisoner 

appears to be fully conscious.  Either the Prisoner Contact Log Sheet 

should be modified, or a new form created, to record the monitoring 

of these prisoners. If during any assessment the prisoner is not 

arousable, they shall be assessed by a physician as soon as practical 

and this shall be noted on the form.  Note: This does not change 

the necessity for the fifteen (15) minute physical checks. 

 

2.11 Prisoners who do not show signs of becoming increasingly more 

awake or more easily arousable within three (3) hours of initial 

assessment shall be assessed by a physician as soon as practical. 

 

2.12 Prisoners who fall asleep after being aroused shall be placed in a 

prone position. 
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 The Glasgow Coma Score and the revised Prisoner Contact Log Sheet are now 

appended to the Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners. 

 

 Associate Chief Wilson confirmed that the Inquiry has had an effect on the 

operation of the Police Service.  He gave as an example the unwritten policy on 

arresting intoxicated persons.  Police officers are now encouraged to have 

intoxicated persons returned home rather than taken to the lock-up.  The individual 

police officer uses his or her discretion based on all of the circumstances at the time.   

 

 Chief Edgar MacLeod described both external and internal conditions of the 

the CBRPS at the time of Mr. Bailey's death.  From 1995 until the decision was made 

in 2000, there was a public push to move from multiple smaller forces in the area 

(Glace Bay, North Sydney, Sydney Mines, Sydney, Louisburg, New Waterford and 

Dominion) to one large force.  Chief Edgar MacLeod described the amalgamation of 

the police forces as "a challenge."  The issue was very time consuming and taxing on 

resources.  Quite apart from those difficulties, in 2001 the further issue of whether 

the area would be policed by the CBRPS or the RCMP was debated and resolved.   

 

 Chief MacLeod confirmed that people with mental health and addiction 

problems are a concern for the Service.  He believes that police cells are not the 

most effective place to house addicted people and at times are completely 

inappropriate.  However, there is often no other place for these persons to go, and 

there is no choice but to place them in the lock-up.  He confirmed that cell deaths 

are a national concern, but he is unaware of any national policy that could help 

improve how the Service handles or investigates cell deaths.   

 

 Chief MacLeod stated that his approach to the OPP investigation and the 

Inquiry was not to react defensively but to instead implement recommendations and 

move forward.  "Our system is to be number one; to be modeled by others".  He 

made several recommendations of his own.   

 

 Chief MacLeod suggested that since prisoners are released when they are 

sober, there should be some "out-counseling" available to help people access 

appropriate programs.  The funding for outreach cannot come out of existing police 

budgets but he would like to see Cape Breton become a leader in this field and 

believes it is possible with adequate financial support.  He further suggested that 

there should be an outreach program for persons with severe addictions.  He is also 

concerned that the Detoxification Centre is not equipped to deal with intoxicated 

persons (persons under the influence of a substance at the time of arrest versus a 
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person who is sober undergoing detoxification through a program).  He notes 

further that Cape Breton does not have a "wet shelter" (overnight shelters that 

accept intoxicated persons).  Chief MacLeod believes that there should be a pro-

active focus on small children to break the cycle of drug addiction which is 

prevalent in many Cape Breton communities.  He would also like to be able to 

provide the CBRPS with training on drug recognition and related symptoms.   

 

 Chief MacLeod recommends that an officer from CBRPS be seconded to 

Police and Public Safety Services to ensure Cape Breton's interests are addressed, 

and to serve as a resource of information regarding its unique perspective.  He 

stated that Cape Breton is always consulted by the province but this often requires 

an officer to travel to Halifax and the CBRPS does not have the funds for travel or 

for replacing the officer for the time that he or she is attending meetings. 

 

 Finally, Chief MacLeod advocates the provincial government take over all 

lock-ups.   
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Conclusions 
 

 The OPP made several recommendations and the Cape Breton Regional Police 

Service reacted positively and implemented most of the recommendations.  In 

certain areas, the CBRPS exceeded the recommendations and implemented many 

additional changes. However, some changes are still inadequate and need to be 

addressed further.   

 

The CBRPS adopted the OPP recommended changes to the Policy on the Care 

and Handling of Prisoners without tailoring them to their own needs.   

 

As the CBRPS now knows, time is of the essence when dealing with a prisoner 

who may be succumbing to intoxicating substances.  Therefore, the times 

recommended by the OPP for assessing such prisoners needs to be reconsidered.  

Thirty minutes may be too long.  It may very well be that such assessments should 

be done on the first four 15 minute physical checks.  

 

When the CBRPS adopted the OPP recommendations the lack of scheduled 

policy reviews was not addressed.  Nor was the policy regarding custodians having 

direct access to prisoners.  While this is an obvious safety issue, times when 

custodians are doing the 4R checks, or when they need to intervene quickly for a 

prisoner in need, were not addressed.  There may be other areas in the Policy that 

require changes, however they are beyond the ability of the Commission to identify.  

These areas would be identified and addressed during regularly scheduled policy 

development meetings. 
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Findings: 
 

The Commission of Inquiry makes the following findings: 

 

1. The CBRPS responded positively and proactively to the 

recommendations made by the OPP at the conclusion of their 

investigation. 

 

2. The CBRPS met, and in some cases, exceeded the OPP 

recommendations. 

 

3. There are still gaps in the Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners 

that need to be addressed. 

 

4. The Cape Breton Regional Police Service cooperated with the Inquiry 

both during the investigation and at the Inquiry. 
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Recommendations: 

 

1. The Province should explore alternatives to incarceration of potentially 

self-destructive or highly intoxicated persons, including expanded uses 

of detoxification facilities and the implementation of wet shelters.  While 

police officers may be encouraged to use their discretion in this matter, 

this presumes the officers have been properly trained, and that 

appropriate continuing education has been made available to them. 

 

2. To assist the province in this regard, Policing and Victim Services should 

chair an interdisciplinary board of police, health and community services 

to study and advise on alternatives to incarceration. Police departments 

from all regions should be encouraged to participate.  The province 

should ensure adequate funding to allow police departments to 

participate. 

 

3. The Province should explore possible legislative amendments so that 

police forces can deal effectively with intoxicated persons outside the 

Liquor Control Act, driving offences covered by the Motor Vehicle Act, 

and offences under the Criminal Code of Canada.  An example of 

relevant legislation that should be examined is the Newfoundland and 

Labrador Detention of Intoxicated Persons Act, RSNL 1990, Ch. D-21.  

This kind of legislation presumes the existence of a detoxification centre 

capable of admitting intoxicated persons.   

 

4. The Province should examine whether or not it would be more beneficial 

or cost-effective for it to assume responsibility for all municipal police 

lock-ups. 

 

Written CBRPS Policies 

 

5. The CBRPS must insure that all officers are briefed on current and new 

policies and procedures.  Duty sergeants, or other appropriate 

supervising officer, must be made responsible for ensuring that all 

policies and procedures are reviewed by each officer.  This must be 

more than just handing the policy and procedure manuals to officers 

and requesting a signature.  Performance reviews may be the most 

opportune time for ensuring familiarity with the policy and procedures 

among the officers. 
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6. Specific amendments to the Policy on the Care and Handling of 

Prisoners should include: 

 

 (C) General 

1.4 The duty sergeant or designate in the division shall be 

responsible for the lock-up facility and its employees.  The 

name of the duty sergeant or designate and a contact 

number shall be posted in a conspicuous place in the lock-up 

facility. 

1.5 Personnel employed in the lock-up facility shall report any 

significant incident involving injury, property damage, 

illness, or failure of equipment under their control to the 

duty sergeant.  The duty sergeant shall report any major 

incident to the on-call manager. 

 

 (D)  Booking 

2.10 All prisoners who are presumed to be intoxicated by either 

drugs or alcohol or both shall be reassessed to ensure that 

they are awake or arousable at least every 15 minutes.  If 

the prisoner is awake or becomes progressively easier to 

arouse after four 15 minute assessments, the assessments 

may be decreased to three 30 minute assessments.  The 

assessments may then decreased to 60 minute intervals 

until the prisoner appears to be fully conscious.  Note: This 

does not change the necessity for the 15 minute physical 

checks. 

2.11 If during any assessment the prisoner is not arousable, they 

shall be immediately taken to a hospital by ambulance for 

assessment by a physician. 

2.12 Prisoners who do not show signs of becoming increasingly 

more awake or more easily arousable within one hour of 

their initial assessment shall be immediately taken to 

hospital by ambulance for assessment by a physician. 

2.13 Prisoners who fall asleep after being aroused shall be placed 

in the recovery position. 

 

 

 



 
            Page  98 

<<<  The CBRPS Response to Investigations & Inquiry >>>   
  

 
 (H) Video 

 Tapes shall be randomly reviewed by the inspector or staff sergeant 

in charge of the lock-up facility for the purposes of employee policy 

compliance and performance evaluation. 

 

7. The Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners needs to undergo a 

thorough edit for spelling, grammar, legislative citation errors, and 

amendments. 
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J. The Impact of the Prescription Monitoring Program of 
 Nova Scotia 
 

 The Prescription Monitoring Association of Nova Scotia (PMANS) is a non-

governmental organization that oversees the prescription practices of prescribing 

physicians through its Prescription Monitoring Program.  It attempts to track the 

use and abuse of certain controlled drugs in an effort to reduce and eliminate over 

prescribing by practitioners, double-doctoring by consumers, and trafficking of 

these drugs.   

 

 James Bailey died from an overdose of several different drugs, many of 

which were prescription drugs unlawfully in his possession.  How he came to 

posses those drugs is unclear.  Witnesses at the Inquiry described the use and 

abuse of certain controlled substances (Oxycontin, Fiorinal, etc.) in Cape Breton as 

critical.  Police constables and high-ranking officers, including the chief and 

associate chief of the CBRPS, described the difficulty they are having with 

addressing the escalating problem.  The drug of choice changes frequently.  It is 

extremely difficult for officers to remain up-to-date so that they are able to readily 

identify pills found in the possession of people they arrest. (e.g., legal vs. illegal; 

pills being trafficked, etc.) 

 

 Colleen Conway from the Prescription Monitoring Association of Nova Scotia 

gave evidence at the Inquiry on May 21, 2003.  She described the system as over 

burdened and underfunded.  The annual budget for the PMANS is $300,000.00 for 

the entire province.  The system is a manual system, and it takes days for 

information to travel from service providers (physicians and pharmacies) to the 

PMANS.  In addition, law enforcement education and participation is limited to the 

RCMP; local police departments do not have any input into program needs and 

information exchange. 
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Conclusions: 
 

 It is clear from the evidence that prescription drugs are available at an 

alarming rate on the streets.  When data are compared, it becomes evident that 

Cape Breton has a particular problem with prescriptions for, and abuse of, codeine-

combination schedule drugs, in particular Oxycontin and Oxycodone (a sustained 

release Oxycontin formulation).  It is also relevant to note that this issue is 

frequently in the news.  More deaths and an increase in personal crime has been 

linked to this type of substance abuse.  The CBRPS has asked for assistance in 

dealing with this problem. 

 

Inadequate funding and the lack of computerization cause delays in 

information-sharing among interested parties.  It also creates gaping holes through 

which fraudulent prescription use carries on.  Ms. Conway was very clear and 

consistent in her evidence, and her evidence was supported by reports issued by 

the PMANS.  Because of lack of funding the PMANS cannot provide full coverage 

monitoring in terms of those drugs that should be monitored, public education and 

physician support. 
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Findings:   
 
 The Commission of Inquiry finds that the Prescription Monitoring Association 

of Nova Scotia does not have sufficient resources and authority to adequately 

service Nova Scotia.  
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Recommendations: 
 

 

1. Computerization. 

 

 The PMANS needs to be brought into the 21st century and 

computerized.  A network should be created that would allow 

physicians, pharmacists and emergency departments to access the 

database.  Because this requires an allocation of human resources and 

financing, the how and the when should be left to the provincial 

government and other interested parties.  However, this matter is 

reaching crisis proportions and must be considered a priority. 

 

2. Funding. 

 

 The annual budget for the PMANS must be increased to a level that is 

realistic in light of the scale of the current problem.  Budgeting for the 

maintenance of the computer network system mentioned above should 

be included in this increase. 
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III Presentation to the Minister 
 

        This Report, together with it's findings and recommendations, was presented 

to the Honourable Michael Baker, Q.C., Minister of Justice for the province of Nova 

Scotia on this 1st day of September, 2005. 

 

 

           

           

      ____________________________ 

      M. Jean Beeler 

      Chair 

      Commission of Inquiry 

 

 
 
           

      ____________________________ 

      M. Frances Hinton 

      Commissioner 

            

 

 

 

      ____________________________ 

      Betty Thomas 

      Commissioner 
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IV Compilation of Recommendations 
 
 The Commission of Inquiry makes the following recommendations:  

 
 

A.  The Arrest of James Guy Bailey, Jr. under the Liquor Control 
 Act 

 
1. The CBRPS must find the ways and means of providing adequate 

continuing education to its officers and employees.  Subjects of 

particular importance include, but are not limited to: 

 

• appropriate basic training on the management of intoxicated 

prisoners; 

• up-to-date information on evaluating levels of intoxication of 

detainees;   

• alternative approaches to arrest and detention under the Liquor 

Control Act;   

• training on the recognition of common street drugs. 

 

2. Police forces should develop a means of "flagging" their computer 
databases in regard to known substance abusers, and persons with a 
history of suicide attempts or mental illness.  This information would 
only be gathered from police records and recorded officer experiences 
in order to comply with privacy requirements.
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B.  The Events in the Lock-up 

 

1. Custodians must have training to adequately perform all of their duties.  

Experienced custodians may or may not require the same training as 

inexperienced custodians.  Training and orientation for newly hired 

custodians (experienced or inexperienced) must include a review of the 

policies of the relevant lock-up, and those policies must be signed off 

within a reasonable period of time from when the custodian commences 

work in that lock-up. 

 

2. The employer must satisfy itself that all its employees are qualified to 

perform their duties.  All police forces in Nova Scotia must provide the 

necessary training for their custodians. 

 

3. Training of custodians should include, at a minimum, note-taking, 

document management, suicide intervention, conflict management, 

intoxicated prisoner management, proper use of force, standard first 

aid, basic CPR, and fire prevention and control. 

 

4. Research and development must be undertaken to ensure that training 

for police officers and lock-up custodians is current and relevant.  An 

example of a current issue includes the specific ability to recognize 

intoxication by drugs and alcohol (together and individually) as 

potentially lethal, as well as the general ability to effectively manage 

the intoxicated person. 

 

5. Lock-up supervisors (duty sergeants) should have, at a minimum, basic 

supervisory training and should be encouraged through financial and 

other incentives to pursue advanced supervisory training.   

 
6. The Policy for the Care and Handling of Prisoners shall: 

 

a. expressly state that custodians have the authority to refuse a 

prisoner for medical or health reasons; 

b. incorporate the Provincial Standard Operating Procedure language 

for dealing with a prisoner’s medication; expressly state that a 

medical evaluation is required for all prisoners deemed to be high 

risk by either a custodian, an arresting officer or any other person 

in authority over that prisoner; and 
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c. provide for increased monitoring of prisoners described in (b). 

 

7. The Operational Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners should be 

amended to direct the arresting officer to check for CPIC and in-house 

records to assist in determining if the prisoner has an arrest history, a 

history of mental illness, suicidal tendencies, a history of drug use, or 

other information relevant to the prisoner's well-being while in the lock-

up. 

 

8. The Prisoner Contact Log Sheet should be amended to include an area 

for the arresting officer to confirm that such a check was made, and to 

provide any relevant information obtained from that search. 

 

9. References to specific personnel, e.g., duty NCO or duty sergeant, 

supervising manager or duty supervisor, should not be used 

interchangeably.  One preferred reference should be decided upon and 

used consistently throughout all police service documents. 

 

10. Supervision of lock-up documentation is the responsibility of the duty 

sergeant.  The duty sergeant must review and sign all Prisoner Contact 

Log Sheets at the beginning and end of every shift.  The Log Sheets 

shall contain: 

 

• long hand notes or comments made by the custodian(s). Ditto 

marks or other duplication marks (e.g., check marks) are not 

acceptable.  Custodians are not to use such marks under any 

circumstances except where specifically indicated (i.e., boxes for 

checking). 

 

• a column for physical checks and a column for observations made 

using the video monitor.  Custodians shall indicate the manner of 

each prisoner check made at the relevant time. 

 

• the real time of the prisoner check.  Custodians are to make 

staggered checks (i.e., not regular quarter-hour checks) according 

to current CBRPS policy. 

 

 



 
            Page  107 

<<<     Compilation of Recommendations      >>>   
 

 
11. The CBRPS and other police departments should, on a regular basis, 

review and redraft policies as necessary to eliminate conflicts within 

various Provincial Standard Operating Procedures pertaining to police 

lock-ups and their own policy documents.   

 

12. The lock-up facility must be respected by police officers and others who 

attend in the area.  It should not be used for other purposes such as a 

through way or meeting place. 

 

13. If the design or location of a facility creates a problem like the one in 

the Grand Lake Road Facility in Sydney (where personnel used the lock-

up facility as a through fare) then it should be redesigned and 

appropriate renovations carried out. 

 

14. There should be a segregated cell for high risk prisoners (intoxicated, 

known history of suicide or mental illness).  If a segregated cell is not 

available, then there should be a detailed protocol to ensure the safety 

of high risk prisoners. 

 

15. CCTV recording systems and audio recording systems should be made 

mandatory for all cells, cell blocks and surrounding areas. 

 

16. Custodians should be provided with unlimited access to the memos and 

written directives. 

 

17. A performance evaluation process for custodians must be developed 

and implemented.  Subsequent performance evaluations must be 

carried out for every employee of the CBRPS on an annual or biannual 

basis as time and finances permit.  

 

18. Annual inspections of all police lock-ups by the Department of Justice 

must continue. 

 

19. The possibility and means of receiving and disseminating information 

received from other jurisdictions should be explored.  The possibility of 

this information transfer in conjunction with the Nova Scotia Police 

Commission should be explored. 
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C. The Lack of Resuscitation Efforts by Police Service Personnel 

 

1. Recertification of employees must take place within the recommended 

periods.  Skills that are not used on a regular basis are often lost.  

More importantly, new developments in first aid and CPR delivery are 

not disseminated.  Consequently, the most effective rescue techniques 

are not available for immediate use.  During recertification the location 

of the first aid and CPR equipment in the lock-up, verification that each 

officer has a certified mask and the situations when officers would be 

obligated to provide CPR assistance, should be reviewed.  To that end, 

it would be wise for the CBRPS to invest in training an officer as a first 

aid – CPR instructor to provide tailored training for their needs, or to 

engage an instructor to become familiar with the specific needs of the 

Service. 

 

2. Following a review of the Police Act and other relevant legislation, and 

in conjunction with the Police Association, a policy regarding the 

obligation of police officers to provide first aid and CPR, as well as their 

discretion to withhold resuscitation in prescribed instances, should be 

developed. The policy should include a clear explanation of prescribed 

instances and a description of consequently required note-taking.  As 

well, it should incorporate mechanisms for review of each incident and 

directives regarding the obligation of police officers to participate in any 

subsequent investigation. 

 

3. Necessary first aid and CPR equipment should be determined in 

consultation with relevant service providers (e.g. St. John’s Ambulance, 

Workers’ Compensation Board).  A first aid station should be set up in 

a central location within the lock-up, and high-visibility signs should be 

posted accordingly.  These signs should include one that would be 

visible in the event of a power-outage. 

 

4. Physically checking and maintaining first aid and CPR equipment should 

be designated in the job description of one person each day.  Methods 

used by nursing units and paramedics can be easily tailored and 

incorporated into the regular routine of the lock-up 
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D. The Role of the Communications Centre 
 

 The Board of Inquiry finds that at the time of the conclusion of the Inquiry, 

all necessary steps had been taken to address these issues.   
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E. The Investigation of the Cell Death by the Cape Breton 
 Regional Police Service 
 

 

1. The province should examine the feasibility of instituting a "critical 

incident team", made up of officers from various departments and 

detachments, to provide assistance with investigating difficult or 

sensitive cases. 

 

2. In the event that the province declines to proceed with recommendation 

number 1, it should consider directing police departments to involve an 

outside force with the investigation when a prisoner dies while in that 

police department’s custody. 
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F. The Public Complaint Filed with the Nova Scotia Police 
 Commission 
 

 

1. Where there is a finding of no disciplinary default, there must be 

detailed reasons given and those reasons are to be communicated to 

the complainant.   

 

2. Each police department in the province of Nova Scotia shall examine 

their procedures for alternate dispute resolution with a view to ensuring 

that, whenever possible, public complaints are informally resolved. 

 

3. When the investigation into a public complaint discloses evidence that 

would assist in resolving the complaint, that evidence is to be disclosed 

to the complainant at the earliest possible opportunity. 

 

4. A means for viewing a body prior to a forensic autopsy (e.g.  glass 

partition, closed circuit television) should be established in any hospital 

where such autopsies are conducted. 

 

5. The disposition of the public complaint in the Bailey matter shall be in 

accordance with the Inquiry's Report without further investigation or 

hearing. 

 

6. Personal effects belonging to James Bailey and original family 

photographs shall be returned to the Bailey family.  The bottle of 

various pills should be delivered to a pharmacy for safe disposal.  
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G. The Emergency Department Policy re:  Accepting Intoxicated 
 Persons 
 

1. The role of hospitals and the relationship between hospitals and police 

departments should be clearly explained to cadets during basic training 

and reinforced during orientation and refresher programs. 

 

2. Municipal police departments must develop standard operating 

procedures regarding the arrest and/or detention of intoxicated persons.  

Such SOPs should: 

 

a. be developed following literature searches that include current 

research on the matter; 

b. be parallel in intent and language to existing federal and provincial 

SOPs and legislation; 

c. incorporate the recommendations of Dr. Barry McLellan 

(Appendix A113-115); and 

d. at a minimum, include the following: 

 

i. when assessing a detainee arrested for public intoxication 

for placement in cells, the presence of medication or 

prescription bottles - with or without pills - is an indication 

that a medical professional must first assess the detainee 

before the detainee is placed in the lock-up. 

 

ii. police officers and custodians are under a positive duty to 

report to the officer in charge of the lock-up any concerns 

they have regarding the health and welfare of any detainee 

and the presence of any prescription bottles whether empty 

or not. 

 

e. during police department orientation sessions, non-officer 

employees (e.g., custodians, dispatch) and new police members 

(including experienced officers transferring from other police 

departments) should be introduced to the emergency departments 

of the local hospital(s). 
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3. Responsibility for intoxicated detainees at the emergency department, 

the province and Department of Health should form an ad hoc 

committee to study the problem in its entirety with a view to resolving 

the matter in a fiscally responsible manner for both police and health 

departments.  The committee should: 

 

a. as soon as practicable implement a formal policy regarding 

the triage of patients brought in from the lock-up, and/or by 

police officers.  The policy should give formal priority to 

these patients over other patients of equal triage designation 

in order to hasten the return to active duty of officers 

accompanying such patients. 

 

b. investigate the use of "Medical Officers" or "Police Surgeons"  

employed in the U.K. and elsewhere to determine if that is 

an appropriate model for municipal lock-ups; and  

 

c. investigate the possible use of registered nurses, VON and 

nurse practitioners in municipal lock-ups along the same 

lines as they are employed at provincial lock-ups. 
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H. The Role of the Detoxification Centre and the Involvement of 
 the Mental Health Unit 
 

1. Response to Mr. Bailey's telephone call. 

 

 The policies and procedures of the Detox Centre need to be revised to 

clarify language and intent including, but not limited to: 

 

a. Noting clients' histories of suicide attempts or ideation in such a place 

that it would immediately come to the attention of the person 

handling the phones (e.g., the Rolodex). 

 

b. Avoiding the use of vague terms such as "clinical judgment" and, 

instead, stipulating the use of criterion-based discretion.  For 

example, in assessing whether or not a situation is a crisis, reference 

to specific behaviours should be made (expressed threats, implied 

threats, substances abused, clarity of language and thought process, 

etc.). 

 

2. Resources for the Detox Centre. 

 

 Additional resources must be directed to the Detox Centre for the 

specific purpose of computerizing the database, adding additional beds 

and providing refresher and continuing education courses for its 

employees. 

 

3. Wet Shelters 

 

 A committee including, but not limited to, members from the 

Detoxification Centre, Mental Health Unit, Health Authorities and police 

departments should be struck forthwith to study the viability of "wet 

shelters" as an alternative to incarceration of intoxicated persons.   

 

4. Discharge Planning 

 

 A committee of members drawn from the Mental Health Unit, 

Detoxification Centre and the emergency department should be struck 

forthwith to determine the extent of, and the best approach to, 

information sharing, integrating care, and discharge planning.  The 
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committee should also involve other related governmental and non-

governmental organizations (e.g., Social Services). 

 

5. The provincial government should ensure that adequate resources are 

provided to the above committees to enable them to properly carry out 

their mandates. 
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I The Cape Breton Regional Police Service Response to 
 Investigations and to the Inquiry 
 

 

1. The Province should explore alternatives to incarceration of potentially 

self-destructive or highly intoxicated persons, including expanded uses 

of detoxification facilities and the implementation of wet shelters.  While 

police officers may be encouraged to use their discretion in this matter, 

this presumes the officers have been properly trained, and that 

appropriate continuing education has been made available to them. 

 

2. To assist the province in this regard, Policing and Victim Services should 

chair an interdisciplinary board of police, health and community services 

to study and advise on alternatives to incarceration. Police departments 

from all regions should be encouraged to participate.  The province 

should ensure adequate funding to allow police departments to 

participate. 

 

3. The Province should explore possible legislative amendments so that 

police forces can deal effectively with intoxicated persons outside the 

Liquor Control Act, driving offences covered by the Motor Vehicle Act, 

and offences under the Criminal Code of Canada.  An example of 

relevant legislation that should be examined is the Newfoundland and 

Labrador Detention of Intoxicated Persons Act, RSNL 1990, Ch. D-21.  

This kind of legislation presumes the existence of a detoxification centre 

capable of admitting intoxicated persons.   

 

4. The Province should examine whether or not it would be more beneficial 

or cost-effective for it to assume responsibility for all municipal police 

lock-ups. 

 

Written CBRPS Policies 

 

5. The CBRPS must insure that all officers are briefed on current and new 

policies and procedures.  Duty sergeants, or other appropriate 

supervising officer, must be made responsible for ensuring that all 

policies and procedures are reviewed by each officer.  This must be 

more than just handing the policy and procedure manuals to officers 

and requesting a signature.  Performance reviews may be the most 
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opportune time for ensuring familiarity with the policy and procedures 

among the officers. 

 

6. Specific amendments to the Policy on the Care and Handling of 

Prisoners should include: 

 

 (C) General 

1.4 The duty sergeant or designate in the division shall be 

responsible for the lock-up facility and its employees.  The 

name of the duty sergeant or designate and a contact 

number shall be posted in a conspicuous place in the lock-up 

facility. 

1.5 Personnel employed in the lock-up facility shall report any 

significant incident involving injury, property damage, 

illness, or failure of equipment under their control to the 

duty sergeant.  The duty sergeant shall report any major 

incident to the on-call manager. 

 

 (D)  Booking 

2.10 All prisoners who are presumed to be intoxicated by either 

drugs or alcohol or both shall be reassessed to ensure that 

they are awake or arousable at least every 15 minutes.  If 

the prisoner is awake or becomes progressively easier to 

arouse after four 15 minute assessments, the assessments 

may be decreased to three 30 minute assessments.  The 

assessments may then decreased to 60 minute intervals 

until the prisoner appears to be fully conscious.  Note: This 

does not change the necessity for the 15 minute physical 

checks. 

2.11 If during any assessment the prisoner is not arousable, they 

shall be immediately taken to a hospital by ambulance for 

assessment by a physician. 

2.12 Prisoners who do not show signs of becoming increasingly 

more awake or more easily arousable within one hour of 

their initial assessment shall be immediately taken to 

hospital by ambulance for assessment by a physician. 

2.13 Prisoners who fall asleep after being aroused shall be placed 

in the recovery position. 
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 (H) Video 

 Tapes shall be randomly reviewed by the inspector or staff sergeant 

in charge of the lock-up facility for the purposes of employee policy 

compliance and performance evaluation. 

 

7. The Policy on the Care and Handling of Prisoners needs to undergo a 

thorough edit for spelling, grammar, legislative citation errors, and 

amendments. 
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J. The Impact of the Prescription Monitoring Program of Nova 
 Scotia 
 

 

1. Computerization. 

 

 The PMANS needs to be brought into the 21st century and 

computerized.  A network should be created that would allow 

physicians, pharmacists and emergency departments to access the 

database.  Because this requires an allocation of human resources and 

financing, the how and the when should be left to the provincial 

government and other interested parties.  However, this matter is 

reaching crisis proportions and must be considered a priority. 

 

2. Funding. 

 

 The annual budget for the PMANS must be increased to a level that is 

realistic in light of the scale of the current problem.  Budgeting for the 

maintenance of the computer network system mentioned above should 

be included in this increase. 
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 Direction of the Minister  
 
The Commission of Inquiry was created on January 25th, 2001 and reads as 

follows: 

 
 

    Minister of Justice 
    And Attorney General 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

MINISTERIAL DIRECTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 8 OF THE  

POLICE ACT. R.S.N.S.,  c. 348, s.1. 

 

DIRECTION TO INQUIRE 

 

I, MICHAEL G. BAKER, Minister of Justice and Attorney General, in and for the 

province of Nova Scotia, do hereby direct the Nova Scotia Police Commission 

(hereinafter: the Commission) to investigate, inquire into and report to me on 

matters related, either directly or indirectly, to the death of James Guy Bailey.  

Mr. Bailey died in Cape Breton Regional Municipality, Nova Scotia on or about May 

17, 2000. 

 

SCOPE OF INQUIRY 

 

I further direct that the scope of this inquiry shall be as follows: 

 

• the Commission shall inquire into, investigate and report on any of the 

matters described in clauses 8(2)(a) & (b) of the Police Act and which the 

Commission determines are, directly or indirectly, related to the death of 

James Guy Bailey; 

 

• the Commission shall inquire into, investigate, and report upon the 

involvement of any member of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service or 

an of its employees, or of any other person who, as determined by the 

Commission, may have information related, directly or indirectly, to the 

death of James Guy Bailey; 
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• the Commission shall inquire into, investigate, and report upon all 

investigations, documents, reports, files reviews analyses, assessments, 

evaluations, and related material (including material retained in electronic 

format, and/or video  recordings, and/or voice recordings), which the 

Commission determines may be relevant to this inquiry; 

 

• the Commission shall inquire into, investigate and report whether there was 

compliance with applicable statutes, regulations, orders, rules or directions;  

 

• the Commission shall inquire into, investigate and report upon any matter 

which the Commission determines may be relevant to this inquiry; 

 

• The Commission will have available to it, for the purposes of this inquiry, all 

of the applicable provisions of the  Police Act.  R.S.N.S., c. 348, s. 1; the 

Regulations (made under Section 46 of the Police Act. R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 348 

O.I.C. 88-464, Reg. 101/88 as amended up to and including O.I.C. 96-27, 

N.S. Reg. 8/96, January 16, 1996; and, the Public Inquiries Act. 1992, c.28, 

s.5, which provisions are determined by the Commission to be necessary to 

conduct this inquiry; and 

 

• The Commission shall provide the Minister of Justice with a report of its 

findings and recommendations at the conclusion of this inquiry. 

 

 Dated this 25th day of January, 2001, in Halifax Regional Municipality, in 

the Province of Nova Scotia. 

 

  

   

      Honourable Michael G. Baker, Q.C. 
      Minister of Justice and Attorney General 
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 Commissioners 
 
 

M. Jean Beeler - Chair 
 
 M. JEAN BEELER is a lawyer practicing in Halifax, Nova Scotia.  She has 

been a member of the Canadian Barristers’ Association and the Nova Scotia 

Barristers’ Society since 1981.  Ms. Beeler is a founding member of the Canadian 

Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement of Police and served as the 

President for two terms.  Ms. Beeler also was Vice President of the International 

Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement.  Ms. Beeler was appointed 

as Chair of the Nova Scotia Police Commission in 1995 and served six years in that 

capacity. 

 

 

Frances Hinton 
 
 FRANCE HINTON was called to the BC bar in 1991, and to the NS bar in 

2002.  She is also a registered nurse and works part-time on the Palliative Care 

Unit at the Victoria General Site of the QEII Health Science Centre. In 1987 she 

received her Chartered Arbitrator designation from the ADR Institute of Canada, 

and has been an arbitrator for more than 10 years. Her law practice is solely 

dispute resolution and administrative tribunal work.  Ms. Hinton was appointed to 

the Nova Scotia Police Commission in 2001. 

 

 

 

Betty Thomas 
 
 Betty Thomas: Mediator, small business owner and trainer.  Ms Thomas 

brings her education in business administration, facilitation training, restorative 

justice training, and extensive work in the communications industry.  Ms. Thomas 

has solid communication and interpersonal skills developed through years as a 

Facilitator, Trainer and ADR Consultant.  Ms. Thomas was appointed to the Nova 

Scotia Police Commission in 2001. 
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Council and Parties to the Proceedings 
 

 

 

Jean McKenna    Nova Scotia Police Commission 

Blaise MacDonald  Bailey Family 

Joel Pink, Q.C. / Mike Taylor  Constable Paul MacDonald 

David Fisher     Constable Rolfe & members of Major Crime Unit 

David Bright, Q.C.  Chief MacLeod & senior management 

John Khattar / Ellen MacKinnon Wayne Aucoin /Detox & C.B.R.H. Emergency 

Robin Campbell , Q.C.  Cape Breton Regional Municipality 

Charles Broderick Constable Max Sehl 

William Burchill   Judy McNeil / dispatcher 

Duncan MacEacheran Carmel Butler 

Sheldon Natheson  Sergeant John O’Rourke 

 

Release of 911 Tapes 

Edward Gores/Jonathan Davies, Q.C. Department of Justice  

David Coles CBC  
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Commission Council & Staff 
 
Jean McKenna 
Council to the Commission 
 

 JEAN MCKENNA practices law in Halifax, Nova Scotia, specializing in the areas of 

Criminal and Civil Litigation.  Ms. McKenna sat as Alternate Chairperson of the Nova Scotia 

Police Review Board.  She also conducted file adjudications for the Nova Scotia 

Compensation for Victims of Institutional Abuse.  Ms. McKenna is active with a variety of 

groups and organizations in the community, and has been involved with the Nova Scotia 

Medical Legal Society, Eastern Shore Safe House Association, Elizabeth Fry Society, and 

Community Planning Association of Canada.. 

 

E. Garry Mumford 
Director, Nova Scotia Police Commission 
 

 GARRY MUMFORD is the Director of the Nova Scotia Police Commission.  Prior to his 

position of Director he was the Head Investigator for the Commission.  Mr. Mumford has a 

long and distinguished career in policing.  In 1968 he joined the Royal Canadian Mounted 

Police and was posted in various locations within the Maritimes.  He has worked in numer-

ous positions as an RCMP officer including general investigations, drug section, and, at his 

retirement, he was in charge of the Division’s Criminal Intelligence Unit as well as the Metro 

Joint Task Force on Prostitution. 

 
Dennis Squires 
Investigator, Nova Scotia Police Commission 
 

 DENNIS SQUIRES had been contracted by the Nova Scotia Police Commission as an 

investigator from 1998 until 2003.  Prior to this time he had been employed by the Royal 

Canadian Mounted Police for approximately thirty three  
years.  During his tenure he had served in a number of various positions including that of an 

investigator and investigator supervisor.  Also, he had been assigned to an Internal 

Investigation Unit which specialized in investigating Public Complaints and Code of Conduct 

Investigations, against employees.  This particular background provided a degree of 

experience which was considered an asset while conducting Public Complaint Investigations 

under the purview of the Nova Scotia Police Commission.   

 

 

Pamela J. Little (Whittaker) 
Coordinator, Nova Scotia Police Commission 
 
Norma MacDonald 
Secretary, Nova Scotia Police Commission 
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Opening Remarks (M. Jean Beeler)  
 
 Shortly before 9:00 p.m. on May 16, 2000, James Guy Bailey, Jr of Sydney Mines, Nova 
Scotia. was arrested by a member of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service for being intoxicated in a 
public place.  He was subsequently incarcerated in the police cells at the Central Lock-up of the Cape 
Breton Regional Police H.Q.’s in Sydney.  Shortly before 2:00 a.m. on May 17, 2000, the on duty gaol 
guard found Mr. Bailey to be unresponsive.  He did not respond to emergency resuscitation efforts at the 
gaol and was transported to the emergency department of the Cape Breton Regional Hospital where he 
was pronounced dead at about 2:45 a.m. 
 
 On the 25th of January, 2001 pursuant to Section 8 of the Police Act, the Honourable Michael G. 
Baker, the Minister of Justice and Attorney General, in and for the Province of Nova Scotia directed the 
Nova Scotia Police Commission to inquire into and report to him on matters related, either directly or 
indirectly,  to the death of James Guy Bailey. 
 
 Minister Baker further directed the scope of the inquiry would be as follows: 
 
• inquire into, investigate and report on any of the matters described in clauses 8(2)(a) & (b) of the 

Police Act and which the Commission determines are, directly or indirectly, related to the death 
of James Guy Bailey; 

• inquire into, investigate, and report  upon the involvement of any member of the Cape Breton 
Regional Police Service or an of its employees, or of any other person who, as determined by the 
Commission, may have information related, directly or indirectly, to the death of James Guy 
Bailey; 

• inquire into, investigate, and report upon all investigations, documents, reports, files reviews 
analyses, assessments, evaluations, and related material (including material retained in electronic 
format, and/or video  recordings, and/or voice recordings), which the Commission determines 
may be relevant to this inquiry; 

• inquire into, investigate and report whether there was compliance with applicable statutes, 
regulations, orders, rules or directions;  

• inquire into, investigate and report upon any matter which the Commission determines may be 
relevant to this inquiry; 

 
I would like to point out that Section 8(2)(a) of the Police Act allows the Police Commission to 
investigate, inquire into and report upon the conduct of or the performance of duties by any chief of 
police, other police officer, constable, special constable or municipal by-law enforcement officer.  
  
8(2)(b) of the Police Act allows the Police Commission to investigate, inquire into and report upon the 
administration of any police force.  I would also like to note that Section 4(3)(c) of the regulations made 
pursuant to the Police Act states that 
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 4(3) No member of a police force is subject to any penalty for the 
commission of a disciplinary default including reduction in rank or 
dismissal, until after proceedings have been taken pursuant to the Act 
and these regulations, except that  

 
(c)  where the Commission or any member thereof holds an investigation or inquiry pursuant to 

clause 8(2)(a) of the Act and reports that any member of a police force referred to in that 
clause does not perform or is incapable of performing the member’s duties in a manner in 
keeping with the member’s position, or the member’s conduct is such as not to satisfy the 
requirements of the member’s position, the board or the chief officer in accordance with a 
by-law made pursuant to subsection 14(3) of the Act, or in the case of the chief officer, the 
council, may 

   
(i) reduce the member in rank and in pay in accordance with the rank to which the 

member is reduced, 
 
(ii)  where the report is concurred in by a majority of the members of the Commission 

and it is so recommended therein, dismiss the member or place the member on 
retirement if the member is entitled thereto. 

 
 During the course of the investigation, the other two commissioners and I have purposely stayed 
at arms length from the evidence collected.  While we have no personal knowledge of this, my staff 
informs me that in excess of 100 people have been interviewed either through the course of the Cape 
Breton Regional Police Service  investigation, the Ontario Provincial Police investigation or through our 
own Commission investigation.  Hundreds of pages of documents related to this matter have been 
obtained, reviewed and catalogued by Commission staff, all of which has been disclosed to the various 
legal counsel present here today. 
 
 Counsel are being asked to remain cognizant of the necessity for their attendance as it pertains to 
the interests of their client.  I would like to caution counsel that it may not be necessary for all of you to 
attend the entirety of the Inquiry and remind you of the terms of the Commission’s policy regarding legal 
funding.  You will recall that we informed you that the number of hours spent will be subject to review 
by the Commission, and will be reduced if the Commission views the hours spent are excessive or 
unjustifiable. 
 
 At the end of these proceedings, as noted earlier, we will be completing a detailed report which 
will consist of the evidence, analysis, conclusions and any recommendations to the Minister of Justice. 
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 Date of Oral Ruling:   February 12, 2002 

 

 

1. Application for Exclusion of Witnesses 

 

Commission counsel requested at the start of the proceedings an order for the 

exclusion of witnesses who were not directly or indirectly affected by the Inquiry.  

Counsel for the Bailey family request exclusion of all witnesses. 

 

Ruling 

 

There are certain situations where a court will exclude parties from hearing the 

evidence of certain witnesses.  That is not the case here.  This is a public inquiry 

and by its very nature is open to all.  We intend to follow the rules of natural jus-

tice to ensure that anyone affected by these proceedings will have full opportunity 

to be heard and to respond to the evidence of others.  It is necessary for those 

affected to be able to instruct counsel and it is in the interest of the inquiry that 

they be able to do so. 

 

The Commission further finds that it is not in the interest of the Inquiry to exclude 

other witnesses prior to giving their own evidence.  We are concerned with the 

sheer number of witnesses and the fact that the proceedings will take place over 

a period of several months.  Evidence will be available to witnesses from a num-

ber of sources, not just from hearing the evidence of others at the Inquiry.  If wit-

nesses are excluded there may be a misapprehension that when they do give evi-

dence they will be unaware of the evidence of others.  Finally, we are concerned 

that we should exclude some witnesses and not others.  Those affected and rep-

resented by counsel make up a substantial proportion of the witnesses. 

 

For these reasons witnesses will not be excluded from the proceedings. 
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 Date of Oral Ruling:  October 22, 2002 

 

2. Application by the CBC to obtain copies of video tapes showing Mr. Bailey 

being led into the cells by officers, the firefighters arriving in the cell block area, 

the EMS medical personnel arriving following the death of Mr. Bailey, and any 

other tape the CBC reporter feels would assist with its television coverage. 

 

Ruling 

 

The public are entitled to access exhibits such as video tapes unless there is a 

greater interest to be served by denying such access.  There is no such greater 

interest in this case.  The request by the CBC was unopposed by the Bailey family 

and there are no other person who could be harmed by the release of the video 

tapes.  Clips of the video tapes is granted as requested by the CBC in its letter 

dated October 21, 2002, for the same reasons  the release of audio tapes was 

granted in July 2002. 

 

This ruling applies to the specific requests noted in the letter and does not apply 

generally to all of the audio or video tapes, or to other exhibits.  If there are fur-

ther requests they will be considered at that time. 

 

The release of the tapes is to be supervised by Commission staff who will ensure 

that the tapes are made available to copy those portions as outlined in the re-

quest. 
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 Date of Oral Ruling:  October 24, 2002 

 

3. Application to remove the ban on publication of the names of witnesses 

who were in the jail cells on the night in question by members of the media. 

 

Ruling 

 

Some witnesses who were at the lock-up on the night in question have requested 

that their names not be published.  Their request has been opposed by members 

of the media and some of the lawyers involved in the hearings. 

 

This Commission has ruled on other occasions in favour of releasing information 

so that the public can stay informed. 

 

We find, with one exception, that the private interest in not disclosing names is 

not superior to the public interest.  The names of the witnesses is relevant.  The 

public has the right to be informed and make their own assessment.  Therefore, 

there will be no ban on the publication of names. 

 

The one exception is the young person who gave evidence this morning.  In addi-

tion to the public interest he may have, there is a public interest in maintaining 

confidentiality of young persons generally.  This out weights any right of the pub-

lic generally to be informed.  The ban will continue for this person. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
   Page A - 15 

<<<     Appendices      >>>   
 

 Date of Oral Ruling:  November 18, 2002 

 

4. Ban on, publication of, names of deceased persons. 

 

Ruling 

 

During Constable Paul MacDonald’s evidence he submitted as an exhibit a list of 

names of deceased persons with whom he had had contact when acting as a po-

lice officer.  The media requested a release of the names for publication. 

 

The question is whether the private interest in not publishing the names of the 

deceased is superior to the public interest.  In this case the names of the de-

ceased persons is wholly irrelevant.  If there was any question about releasing the 

names it could have been entered without identifying the people involved.  Who 

these people were is of no interest to the Inquiry. 

 

The public has the right to be informed and to make their own assessment but in 

this case the information is not relevant and therefore there is nothing informative 

being withheld.  There is an obvious private interest and therefore the ban will 

continue. 
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 Date of Oral Ruling:  May 26, 2003 

 

5. Request by Mr. Broderick, on behalf of Constable Sehl and other counsel, 

that any document filed but not referred to in viva voce evidence be excluded or 

that a witness be called to prove the document. 

 

Ruling 

 

The Commission does not anticipate calling further witnesses.  There has been 

opportunity for all involved to refer to any discrepancy in the documentary evi-

dence and there has been an opportunity for all involved to call witnesses and to 

enter exhibits and other evidence.  We have Mr. Broderick’s submissions regard-

ing concerns he has and how certain documents may impact his client.  All parties 

affected by this Inquiry have had the volumes of documents since October 2001.  

All of the documents and tapes have been available to the public since that time 

and there has been very little restriction.  We are not prepared to remove any 

documents at this late stage. 

 

The Commission will not be actively seeking out issues that have never been 

raised during the hearings.  Where there is a discrepancy in the evidence, the 

contested document will have less or little weight.  These documents will be given 

the appropriate weight when the Commission prepares its final report. 

 

We are confident that should any critical issue arise we will be able to question or 

seek input from all those involved in the Inquiry. 

 

All exhibits are in evidence and will be considered and given the appropriate 

weight by the Commission. 
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McNE1L: Nine one one. What is your emergency? 

BAILEY: Hi, yes, this is James Bailey calling. 

McNEIL: What's your name? 

BAILEY: James Bailey. 

McNEIL: James? 

BAILEY: Bailey. 

McNEIL:  Bailey? Yes, James. 

BAILEY: Bailey. 

McNEIL:  Yes. 

BAILEY: Yes. There were cops up my uncle's. They were looking for me. 

McNEIL: Okay. And you're at two Yorke Street in Sydney Mines now? 

BAILEY: Yes. 

McNEIL: Okay. You wanna know why they want you, is it, James? 

BAILEY: Yes. 

McNEIL: Okay. I'll get someone to give you a call. 

BAILEY: He don't have a phone. 

McNEIL: Yeah, well, you stay where you are. 

BAILEY: Yeah. 

McNEIL:  Okay? 

BAILEY: Um... umh.  

McNeil:  And I’ll have someone give you a call. 

BAILEY: Okay.  

McNeil:  Okay, then. Bye-bye.  

BAILEY: If they come, I’d rather go De-Tox.  

McNeil:  Pardon.  

BAILEY: I’d rather go De-tox. I made appointment a little while ago if they 

can    get me in. 

McNEIL:  Okay. I'll have someone give you a call, James. 

BAILEY Okay. 

 

_________________________________________________________________

___ 

Judy MacNeil made the following calls: 

 

BLAGDON: Sergeant Blagdon, North Division. 

McNEIL:  Hi, Sgt. Blagdon. Was someone in North trying to find a James 

Barry? 

BLAGDON: A James Barry? 

McNEIL:  Um... umh. 

BLAGDON: I'm not sure. Just one second. Was anyone looking for a James 
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Barry? (Inaudible voices in the background) No, no, not any of the 

members that are here in the office right now unless there was one 

of the members that's on the road. 

McNEIL:  Okay. 

BLAGDON: But nobody here 

McNEIL:  Okey-dokey.  

BLAGDON: Okay. 

McNEIL:  I’ll ask on the air. 

BLAGDON: Okay. 

McNEIL:  Thank you. 

_________________________________________________________________

____ 

NcNeil:   three four, was anyone in north looking for a  

    James Barry? 

Const. H. MacDonald: Ah, three twenty one negative. 

Const. W. rogeron:  three twenty three Negative. 

Const. M. Rolfe:  three ten negative.  Sorry, three eleven. 

_________________________________________________________________

____ 

 

Dispatcher: RCMP. 

McNeil:  Good evening.  How are you? 

Dispatcher: Good. 

NcNeil:  Um, we’re any of your members looking for a James Barry? 

Dispatcher: From where? 

McNeil: Well, he called me from Number two Yorke Street.  He said police 

were at his uncle’s earlier today and, ah… 

Dispatcher: In Glace Bay? 

McNeil:  No, North side. 

Dispatcher: North side. 

McNeil:  Yeah. James Barry. 

Dispatcher: I don’t know.  Just hold on. 

McNeil:  Okay. 

McNeil:  I, I’ve spoken to him before, though.  Yeah. 

Dispatcher: No, no. 

McNeil:  No? 

Dispatcher: Nobody that’s working right now anyway. 

McNeil:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Officer:  All right. 
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 McNeil:  Bye. 

 

ROPEK: Regional police dispatch. 

MacIntyre: Hi, how are ya this evening? 

ROPEK: Fine thanks. 

MacIntyre: I’m calling about a Jamie Bailey, from Sydney Mines.  He, he’s gone 

up Yorke Street, he’s pretty full, and he’s, can bearely walk and he 

wants to be picked up. 

ROPEK: What’s his name? 

MacIntyre: Jamie Bailey.  He’s on Yorke Street now, walking up Yorke Street. 

ROPEK: How old is he? 

MacIntyre: twe…, Twenty some years old, and he’s pretty full, intoxicated or 

something.  I’m just scared he might get run over by a car or 

something. 

ROPEK: Okay.  What’s your name, sir? 

MacIntyre: Bernard MacIntyre. 

ROPEK: Okay. 

MacIntyre: And he wants the cops to pick him up. 

ROPEK: Why does he want the cops to pick him up? 

MacIntyre: I don’t know. 

ROPEK: Okay.  What’s your phone number, Bernard? 

MacIntyre: Seven three six, two four six four. 

ROPEK: And what’s he wearing, can you tell me? 

MacIntyre: Ah, a pair of jeans, leather jacket, black leather jacket. 

ROPEK: Okay. We’ll send a car up. 

MacIntyre: Okay. 

ROPEK: Okay. 

MacIntyre: Thank you. 

ROPEK: Bye-bye. 

MacIntyre: Bye. 
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The following sequence of events occurred from 02:03:20 to 02:06:30: 

 

• O'Rourke picked up the phone, Butler stood near her desk, and MacDonald 

stood near Butler. 

• Butler headed toward cell #4 on her own and returned to the desk. 

• Butler and MacDonald went to cell #4; MacDonald wore a pair of dark 

coloured, heavy leather gloves. 

• While Butler stood outside the cell, MacDonald rolled Bailey onto his back and 

looked at him.  He and Butler left cell #4 for the desk area. 

• MacDonald returned to cell #4 while still wearing the gloves. He put his hand 

on Bailey's neck for a few seconds, and then turned his head in a manner 

consistent with the 'looking and listening' component taught in CPR. 

MacDonald's head was a couple of feet above Bailey's chest; his ear was not 

close to Bailey's mouth as per CPR protocol. He returned to the desk area. 

• O'Rourke was still on the phone; Butler was writing. MacDonald returned to 

cell #4, placed his gloved hand back on Bailey’s neck and put his head closer 

to Bailey's head. He left cell #4.  

• Butler checked the monitors and resumed writing. 

• O'Rourke contacted dispatch to determine who the duty officer was.  He was 

advised it is Inspector Banfield who he then called. 

• MacDonald returned to the desk area where Butler handed him latex gloves. 

He left the desk area toward cell #4. 

• O'Rourke finished his call and left the booking area through the garage exit. 

Macdonald entered cell #4 while donning the latex gloves, looked briefly at 

Bailey and left to return to the desk area. 

• O'Rourke returned to the booking area, Butler continued to write, and 

MacDonald continued to stand by. 

• At 02:06:30 the first EHS crew arrived. CPR on Mr. Bailey was initiated for 

the first time since his discovery more than eight minutes earlier. 
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 Communications Centre (p.17) 

 

1. The Cape Breton Regional Police Service, and the Cape Breton Regional 

Communications Centre should both issue a memorandum to all employees 

reminding them that inappropriate comments made in the workplace are not 

acceptable. 

2. All employees of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service should be given a 

review of how to effectively use the call transfer feature for those 

emergency situations when required.  

 

Audio and Video Recording (p.14) 

 

1. That effective immediately, the current lock-up video recording system be 

modified to include a camera that monitors the complete hallway that runs 

in front of cells one through four. 

2. That a thorough evaluation of the lock-up recording equipment be 

completed to ensure that no other areas of the lock-up are subject to video 

recording “blind spots”. 

3. That all lock-up video cameras, both in-cell and hallway is equipped with 

audio recording capabilities and that all future lock-up recordings are done 

in both audio and video. 

4. That the Cape Breton Regional Police Service implement a monitoring 

program, consisting of random “spot checks” to ensure that the modified 

audio/video equipment is being utilized as per policy. 

 

Prisoner Care Policy (p. 23) 

 

1. All police personnel must receive and maintain certification in Level 1 CPR 

and Standard and Emergency First-Aid, and personnel in charge of persons 

detained in custody (including duty Sergeants) must receive additional 

training and maintain certification in Level II CPR and Standard and 

Emergency First Aid.  In addition, all training should highlight the 

distinctions between consciousness, unconsciousness, and sleeping and 

clear definitions of these terms must be provided to all police personnel.  

The significance of snoring should be highlighted in this training. 

2. All members of the Cape Breton Regional Police Service should be 

immediately issued with barrier protection that can be carried on the 

members’ duty belt.  The lock-up should be immediately equipped with 

barrier protection and some form of audit control needs to be put in place in 

ensure these types of supplies are always available. 
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3. The Cape Breton Regional Police Service Operational Policy on Care and 

Handling of Prisoners needs to be thoroughly reviewed and the following 

changes need to be incorporated into the updated policy:  

 

(a) Individuals who are brought into custody in a state of apparent sleep or 

unconsciousness must be rousable before being placed in a cell.  If 

police are unable to arouse the individual, he/she should be assessed by 

a physician immediately.  A screening tool should be developed, in 

consultation with appropriate medical personnel in the community, to 

assist police personnel in determining what constitutes arousability and 

what appropriate stimuli could be used to determine if an individual is 

arousable. 

(b) For individuals in a state of apparent intoxication who are able to be 

aroused (immediately prior to the time of incarceration) it is 

recommended that: 

 

(1)   The individual be assessed by a physician prior to admission to a 

holding area or jail if there is: a known history of drug overdose, a 

medical history that may be associated with an altered level of 

consciousness (i.e. diabetes) or a history of significant head 

trauma. 

 

(2)   An individual admitted and presumed to be intoxicated should be 

reassessed to ensure he/she is awake or arousable at least every 

30 minutes.  If he/she is awake or becomes progressively easier 

to arouse after three 30 minute assessments, the frequency of 

assessment could be decreased to every 60 minutes until the 

individual appears to be fully conscious.  If at anytime the 

individual is not arousable, he/she should be assessed by a 

physician as soon as practicable.  This does not change the 

necessity for the 15 minute physical checks. 

 

(3)   If an individual is not showing signs of becoming increasingly 

more awake or more easily arousable within 3 hours of initial 

assessment, he/she should be assessed by a physician as soon as 

possible.   
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  (4)  Individuals who become unresponsive (ie. fall asleep) after 

having been aroused should be placed in a prone (recovery) 

position. 

 

4.   The current Prisoner Contact Log Sheet needs to be modified to include a 

confirmation box for C.P.I.C. and Cape Breton Regional Police Service 

records checks for any history with the prisoner.  The policy needs to be 

changed to direct the arresting officer to complete these two record checks 

upon returning to the lock-up with the prisoner.  The officer will then staple 

the results of the check to the Prisoner Contact Log Sheet and check off the 

appropriate boxes. 

 

5.   The guard shall ensure that the arresting officer has checked off that the 

above checks have been completed and that the documentation is attached 

to the Prisoner Contact Log Sheet.  If these checks have not been done, the 

guard shall immediately bring it to the attention of the arresting officer or 

the Duty Sergeant in charge of the lock-up. 

 

6.   Physical checks of the prisoner will be completed at least once every fifteen 

minutes.  This may change from five, ten, or fifteen minutes (sic) intervals 

to constant observation.  

 

7.   A process needs to be put in place where on busy nights within the lock-up, 

the guards can request additional assistance in the lock-up if they feel they 

need it.  If a member of the platoon or the Duty Sergeant is not available to 

assist, a second guard must be called to assist. 

 

8.   Given the number of arrests and detentions for public intoxication, the Duty 

Sergeants need to thoroughly scrutinize the circumstances of each person in 

custody, and explore other options for the arrested party other than 

detention.  It is clearly recognized that with many intoxicated people there 

is no other option but temporary detention, however, in those cases where 

there are other viable options available (a sober person to take 

responsibility), these options should be utilized. 

 

9. Regular in-service training needs to be established for the guards and the 

Duty Sergeants to deal with, and be educated on, the issues in the above 

recommendations. 
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